

THREATS TO CHILDHOOD IN CANADA

AND THE IMPACT OF COVID-19



TOP



UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY O'Brien Institute for Public Health



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgments	1
Executive Summary	3
Introduction and Background	8
The process of compiling the report	10
The top 10 threats: What's new?	12
New data from StatsCan on the health of children and youth	13
The top 10 threats to childhood in Canada and the impact of COVID-19	14
1 Unintentional and preventable injuries	15
2 Poor mental health	16
3 Child abuse	20
4 Poverty	22
5 Infant mortality	24
6 Physical inactivity	26
7 Food insecurity	27
8 Systemic racism and discrimination	29
9 Vaccine-preventable illnesses	31
10 Bullying	33
New threat: Climate change	34

References	51
Call to Action	48
Concluding Remarks	45
Strengths and Limitations	44
COVID-19 poses a threat to child health and well-being	36

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The University of Calgary's project team members involved in developing this report are:

- Gail MacKean, PhD, Research Consultant, O'Brien Institute for Public Health
- Brent Hagel, PhD, Professor, Cumming School of Medicine, Alberta Children's Hospital Research Institute and O'Brien Institute for Public Health
- Candace Lind, RN, PhD, Associate Professor, Faculty of Nursing, Alberta Children's Hospital Research Institute and O'Brien Institute for Public Health
- Farida Gadimova, Student, Faculty of Nursing
- Ann Subota, Student, Faculty of Medicine
- Pablo Richard Fernandez, Manager, Strategic Communications, O'Brien Institute for Public Health
- Angela Taylor, Events and Communications Coordinator, O'Brien Institute for Public Health

Children First Canada's team members involved in the Raising Canada research and knowledge mobilization include:

- Sara Austin, Founder & CEO
- Kelsey Beson, Manager of Programs

- Nicolette Beharie, Manager of Marketing Communications
- Natasha Morano, Manager of Strategic Partnerships and Events
- Alyssa Frampton, Youth Engagement Coordinator

We gratefully acknowledge the following individuals and organizations that contributed subject matter expertise:

- Statistics Canada (StatsCan):
 - » Lynn Barr-Telford, Assistant Chief Statistician, Social, Health and Labour Statistics Field
 - » Jeff Latimer, Director
 General and Strategic
 Advisor for Health Data
 - » Karen Mihorean,
 Director General, Social
 Insights, Integration and
 Innovation Branch
 - » Steve Trites, Director, Centre for Social Data Insights and Innovation
 - » Ron Gravel, Director for the Centre for Population Health Data
- The Centre for Addiction and Mental Health (CAMH):
 - » Lori Spadorcia,
 Senior Vice-President, Public
 Affairs and Partnerships,
 Chief Strategy Officer
 - » Roslyn Shields, Senior Policy Analyst

- Kids Help Phone:
 - » Darren Mastropaolo,
 Associate Vice-President,
 Innovations and Data
 Analytics
- Boost Child and Youth Advocacy Centre:
 - » Pearl Rimer, Director of Research & CYAC Development
- Rhea Bhalla, Youth Research Advisor and Grade 10 Student
- Children First Canada's Council of Champions:
 - » Sara Austin, Founder & CEO, Children First Canada
 - » Dr. Susa Benseler, Director, Alberta Children's Hospital Research Institute, ACHF Chair in Pediatric Research, and Husky Energy Chair in Child and Maternal Health
 - » Dr. Kevin Chan, Medical Director, Children's Health, Trillium Health Partners
 - > Owen Charters, President
 & CEO, Boys and Girls Clubs of Canada
 - » Dr. Ronald Cohen, President and CEO, The Hospital for Sick Children (SickKids)
 - » Irwin Elman, Former Ontario
 Child Advocate, Global
 Strategic Champion, Until the
 Last Child
 - » Debbie Field, Coalition for Healthy School Food & Food Secure Canada

- » Emily Gruenwoldt, President
 & CEO, Children's Healthcare
 Canada and Executive
 Director of Pediatric Chairs of
 Canada
- » Dr. Mary Jo Haddad, Chancellor of the University of Windsor and President of MJH Consulting
- » Christine Hampson, PhD, President & CEO, The Sandbox Project
- » Julia Hanigsberg, Holland
 Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation
 Hospital
- » Kathy Hay, CEO, Kids Help Phone
- » Mark Hierlihy, CEO, Canada's Children's Hospital Foundations
- » Dr. Krista Jangaard, CEO, IWK Health Centre (Halifax)

Children First Canada

- » Karyn Kennedy, President
 & CEO, Boost Child & Youth
 Advocacy Centre
- » Valerie McMurty, CEO, Children's Aid Foundation of Canada
- » Alex Munter, CEO, CHEO, Children's Hospital of Eastern Ontario
- » Dr. Holden Sheffield, Chief of Pediatrics and General Pediatrician at Qikiqtani General Hospital (Igaluit)
- » Dr. Michael Shevell, Chair of Pediatrics, McGill University Health Centre
- Ariel Siller, President and CEO of the Canadian Children's Literacy Foundation
- » Bruce Squires, CEO, McMaster Children's Hospital

- » Kathleen Taylor, Board of Trustees of SickKids
 Foundation, Chair of the Board of RBC Royal Bank
- » Dr. Michael Ungar, Canada Research Chair in Child, Family and Community Resilience, Director of the Resilience Research Centre, Dalhousie University

Children First Canada acknowledges the financial support from TD Bank Group, through the TD Ready Commitment, to help make this report possible. The views expressed in this document, along with the corresponding research papers, articles and reports reflect those of our authors and do not necessarily reflect those of our sponsors and partners.

Children First Canada (CFC) is a national non-profit organization with a bold and ambitious vision that together we can make Canada the best place in the world for kids to grow up. CFC is a strong, effective and independent voice for all children in Canada. CFC harnesses the strength of many organizations and individuals that are committed to improving the lives of Canada's children, including children's charities and hospitals, research centres, government, corporations, community leaders, and children themselves. Visit childrenfirstcanada.org for more information.

O'Brien Institute for Public Health

The O'Brien Institute for Public Health at the University of Calgary enables excellence in population health and health services research in order to inform community, socio-economic, and health care policy and practice. The O'Brien Institute is made up of 480 multidisciplinary researchers, health professionals and policy makers who specialize in two priority areas – improved population health and enhanced health systems performance. The Institute extends the reach and impact of that world-class research by brokering collaboration and relationships with federal policy makers, national and international research agencies, news media, philanthropists and community stakeholders. Visit obrieniph.ucalgary.ca for more information.

Alberta Children's Hospital Research Institute

The Alberta Children's Hospital Research Institute (ACHRI) supports excellence in research, education and knowledge translation to improve the lifelong health and well-being of children and families. ACHRI's 321 diverse members share a passion for child health and wellness – making discoveries to design new treatments, advance practices, and shape policies to improve child health outcomes. ACHRI was founded in 2009 as a partnership between the University of Calgary, Alberta Health Services and the Alberta Children's Hospital Foundation. Visit research4kids.ucalgary.ca for more information.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

For more than a decade, the state of childhood in Canada has been on the decline. Canada ranks 30th out of 38 affluent nations for protecting the well-being of children, according to UNICEF – a significant drop from 12th place in 2007. As a country, we have been going in the wrong direction for far too long.

The statistics are alarming: One-third of children in Canada do not enjoy a safe and healthy childhood, one in three Canadians report experiencing abuse before the age of 15, one in five children live in poverty, and suicide is now the leading cause of death for children aged 10 to 14.

Childhood is threatened for millions of children from all walks of life, but the odds are particularly stark for Black, Indigenous (First Nations, Métis and Inuit) and other racialized children. Systemic racism impacts children in many ways: they are more likely to experience adverse childhood experiences such as poverty and abuse, are more likely to be overrepresented in the child welfare and juvenile justice systems, and are more likely to be suspended or expelled from school.

In recent months, the harsh realities facing young Canadians have been exacerbated

by the COVID-19 pandemic. Children and their families are now facing unprecedented challenges during the economic crisis and ongoing restrictions. Health services and surgeries for children have been cancelled or postponed, and access to social services has been limited. Daycare and school closures have impacted the education of children, and have also cut off their access to nutritional programs and safeguards against abuse. Throughout the pandemic, children have been disproportionately affected by lockdown restrictions. This sheds light on the inequity that exists within Canadian society.

Based on the findings of this report, most of the top 10 threats to childhood identified in *Raising Canada 2019* show signs they may be increasing – or are in danger of increasing – because of the effects of COVID-19. This report also highlights new data related to these threats and points to emerging concerns. *Raising Canada 2020* is jointly published by Children First Canada, the University of Calgary's O'Brien Institute for Public Health and the Alberta Children's Hospital Research Institute. The report is also released with a joint call to action from the Council of Champions.

THE TOP 10 THREATS: WHAT'S NEW?

Since the release of *Raising Canada 2019*, a significant amount of new data has been published on the health and well-being of children in Canada. Much of this new data is from Statistics Canada (StatsCan) surveys, including the new 2019 Canadian Health Survey on Children and Youth⁴, and the 2019 Canadian Community Health Survey⁵.

An important new finding is that young people aged 12 to 17 often rate their own mental health less positively than their parents do. When comparing responses, youth showed a different perspective than their parents about half of the time. When a difference occurred, 65% of youth



rated their own mental health less positively than their parents did. These results suggest that some parents may not be aware of the mental health struggles experienced by their children.

Suicide remains the second leading cause of death for youth aged 15 to 24 – and has now become the leading cause of death among children aged 10 to 14. These rates continue to be significantly higher among First Nations, Métis and Inuit children and youth.

Poverty poses a persistent threat to the wellbeing of children in Canada. The findings of this report show that poverty continues to vary across the country and is unequally distributed throughout the Canadian population. The highest prevalence of child poverty is among families that are Indigenous, racialized and recent immigrants.

This year, climate change has been added to the list of threats analyzed in this report. Throughout consultations, children and youth voiced concerns that climate change threatens their current health, as well as their future. It is also one of their top priorities for action.

A key addition to this year's report is the application of a child rights framework. Almost 30 years have passed since Canada ratified the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child. The top 10 threats serve as a clarion call for the rights of children that are most gravely in danger and in need of urgent action.

THE TOP 10 THREATS: COVID-19 IMPACTS

The major focus of this report is on "what's new" for the top 10 threats to childhood in the past year (prior to the pandemic) and puts a spotlight on the impact of COVID-19 on these threats based on data collected in the early phases of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Key findings:

- Crowdsourced data suggest that the perceived mental health of Canadian youth has declined during the pandemic, with 57% of participants aged 15 to 17 reporting that their mental health was "somewhat worse" or "much worse" than it was prior to physical distancing measures.
- The World Health Organization (WHO) calls violence against children the hidden crisis of the COVID-19 pandemic. Due to school and daycare closures, many children living with family violence no longer have a safe refuge. In Canada, Kids Help Phone has reported an increase in specific conversations about physical, sexual and emotional abuse. As kids go back to school, reports of suspected child abuse may increase, since children will be interacting with trusted adults in their schools.
- Nearly one-third (29%) of Canadians report that the COVID-19 situation is having a moderate or major impact on their ability to meet financial obligations or essential needs.
- Research conducted by ParticipACTION during COVID-19 restrictions found that only 4.8% of children (aged 5-11) and 0.8% of youth (aged 12-17) were meeting 24-hour movement guidelines, raising significant

concerns about children's lack of physical activity and its impact on both their physical and mental health.

- Almost one in seven Canadians said they were living in a household where they experienced food insecurity in the past 30 days.
- A recent Angus Reid survey of Canadian adults of Chinese ethnicity highlighted concerns of discrimination because of the pandemic. Half of the respondents report being called names or insulted as a direct result of the COVID-19 outbreak, and 61% say they have adjusted their routines to avoid runins or unpleasant encounters. Additionally, more than half of the adults surveyed are worried that Asian children are going to be bullied when they return to school due to the COVID-19 outbreak.
- Pediatric infectious disease specialists say that vaccination rates among children have dropped as much as 20% in parts of Canada, which is ramping up anxieties that we could face a series of infectious outbreaks while still battling COVID-19.
- Much of what we learned about COVID-19, its potential impact on these top 10 threats, and its overall impact on child health and well-being is still just emerging. Ongoing data collection and research, and then acting on what we are learning, will be critically important as the pandemic continues to evolve.

COVID-19 poses a direct threat to child health and well-being

COVID-19 in and of itself is a threat to child health and well-being. While children are less likely to have been symptomatic or fall seriously ill due to the virus, some children do get ill. To date, over 10,000 children and youth (aged 0-19) are known to have been infected by COVID-19 (8.4% of the total cases in Canada), and a total of 138 had been hospitalized and 27 admitted to intensive care units. One child is known to have died.

The impact that COVID-19 has had on our society, including the lockdowns, are significantly affecting children. This report identifies three overlapping themes with respect to how the societal impact of COVID-19 affects children: inequity; a lack of access to child care and education; and a lack of access to health care and other human services. These three themes are not new, but the pandemic has amplified the impacts on children and their families.

Inequity

COVID-19 appears to be both magnifying inequities in vulnerable populations and increasing the number of children who are vulnerable. Due to job losses resulting from COVID-19, for example, more families will struggle to provide the necessities of life, including food and shelter. Black people and other racialized communities have also been disproportionately affected by COVID-19, both in terms of infection rates and the adverse effects of the pandemic.

Access to child care and education

Prior to COVID-19, many families struggled to access affordable, quality daycare – especially those living on a low income or caring for children with disabilities. The pandemic has exacerbated this situation. Many families will not be sending their children back to daycare, and families that have a child with a disability may be less likely to do so.

School closures took a heavy toll on children, with major inconsistencies around the quality of education provided and access to other supports typically available in school (nutrition programs, mental health services, physical education, protection from violence, among others). Many children, and more so in children in low-income families, did not have access to computers or wireless internet to participate in online schooling. The ability of parents to support their children's education also varied. There are also significant concerns around the planning and resources available to ensure a safe return to school this fall, and the ability of schools to support continued access to education throughout subsequent waves of the pandemic.

Access to health care and other human services

Throughout the first few months of this pandemic, many health care services across Canada came to a halt. This included hospitalbased surgical procedures, routine care in the community like well-baby visits and immunizations, as well as many other services delivered in the home. Children who are living with complex medical needs or disabilities are experiencing the overall lack of access to health and human services more acutely.

Children have experienced delays for assessments, therapies and procedures. Health care professionals are warning that children will be forced to wait months or even years to access care, which will affect their growth and development.

LESSONS LEARNED

Children deserve the best we have to offer during times of peace and prosperity, and even more so during times of crisis. The lessons learned from the COVID-19 pandemic highlight one key factor: children's most basic rights to life, survival and development are in jeopardy and their best interests must be given paramount consideration in Canada's recovery efforts. Children need and have a right to a safe and stable home and family, the support of trusted adults outside of their homes, access to health and social services, quality daycare and education, and healthy interactions with others to survive and thrive.

Providing systems and societal support for children and addressing their needs is a human rights issue, which Canada agreed to when it ratified the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child in 1991. These legal rights of children are protected under international and domestic law. One of the core principles of a rights framework is that children are not passively waiting for aid and assistance; rather they have ideas and opinions and a right to participate in decisions that affect their lives. The development of true child-centred policies can only happen when we act *with* children, rather than acting for them.

The COVID-19 pandemic has massively disrupted the lives of children. As Canadians work to contain the spread of COVID-19 and recover from the crisis, we must do so without placing a disproportionate burden on children. What the government does now – or fails to do – will forever shape the trajectory for a generation of young Canadians. The stakes are higher than they have ever been.

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

Raising Canada 2020 is the third of an annual series of reports on the health and well-being of children in Canada produced for Children First Canada in partnership with the University of Calgary's O'Brien Institute for Public Health and the Alberta Children's Hospital Research Institute.

The first report in 2018 painted a high-level picture of the health and well-being of children in Canada using reputable sources of data. It was followed by an economic analysis that highlighted the multi-billion dollar economic toll associated with key threats to child health, including child abuse, obesity and bullying.¹ The 2019 report built on the initial report and identified the top 10 threats for children in Canada:²

- 1. Unintentional and preventable injuries
- 2. Poor mental health
- 3. Child abuse
- 4. Poverty
- 5. Infant mortality
- 6. Physical inactivity
- 7. Food insecurity
- 8. Systemic racism and discrimination
- 9. Vaccine-preventable illnesses
- 10. Bullying

In this report, we are:

- Highlighting new data available since the *Raising Canada 2019* report on these top 10 threats, including newly-published data from StatsCan on child and youth health
- Summarizing data collected and reported during COVID-19 that help shed some light on the potential influence of the pandemic on child health and well-being
- Using a child rights framework as a lens to assist in interpreting and making sense of the research findings, as well as determine needed action

The full series of *Raising Canada* reports is available at <u>childrenfirstcanada.org</u>.

Through doing the research to write this report and identifying how COVID-19 appears to be affecting the top 10 threats, we realized that

Raising Canada 2020 9

COVID-19 in and of itself is a threat to child health and well-being. Although children, and particularly younger children, may be less likely to become seriously ill as a result of COVID-19, they are highly affected.

This report identifies three overlapping themes with respect to how the societal impact of COVID-19 affects children: inequity; a lack of access to child care and education; and a lack of access to health care and other human services. These three themes are not new, but the pandemic has amplified the impacts on children and their families.



THE PROCESS OF COMPILING THE REPORT

The selection of data sources intentionally built on the threats to child health and well-being described in the 2018 and 2019 *Raising Canada* reports. The process also included a focus on collecting any data on what we know to date about how COVID-19 has affected these threats, and/or reveals any additional threats on the horizon. We went back to the data sources we had used in our previous reports, reviewed media reports that cite reputable sources, and sought out reputable new data sources recommended by experts in the field.

An early draft of this report was shared with subject matter experts, and members of Children First Canada's Council of Champions were consulted on the key findings and have endorsed the report's call to action. Children First Canada highly values the lived experiences and expertise of children and youth; their critical views and aspirations are included throughout this report, and a high school-aged young person participated in the research review committee. The purpose of sharing an early draft was to bring the lens of many different kinds of expertise into the report development process, with the goal of helping us identify any gaps or areas of highest priority.

APPLYING A CHILD RIGHTS FRAMEWORK

A key addition to this year's report is the application of a child rights framework. Almost 30 years have passed since Canada ratified the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child³ – the most widely ratified human rights treaty of all time – which enshrines children's economic, social, cultural, civil and political rights.

This year marks a critical milestone for children's rights in Canada, as the federal government is due to appear before the United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child in September to provide an account of actions taken to ensure the full realization of children's rights. It will be an important moment on the national and international stage in terms of how Canada fares in relation to the treatment of children.

The application of a child rights framework is critical for a number of reasons, perhaps most importantly because it serves as a reminder to government, parents and other duty bearers (civil society organizations, the private sector, among others) that children are not objects of our charity. They are citizens with legal rights that are protected under international and domestic law.

Moreover, a core principle of a child rights framework also reminds us that children are not passively waiting for aid and assistance. Children have ideas, opinions and a right to participate in decisions that affect their lives. Children must be able to freely express their views, and adults have a duty to listen to and involve children in decisions that affect them – within their family, schools, communities, public institutions, public policy making and judicial procedures.

Finally, a child rights framework also underscores that all rights are interrelated, interdependent and indivisible. There is no hierarchy of rights, and it is incumbent on government, parents and all duty bearers to ensure that every child is able to achieve the fulfilment of their rights. The top 10 threats serve as a clarion call for the rights of children that are most gravely in danger and in need of urgent action. This report explicitly identifies the rights of children that are in jeopardy, but this is not an exhaustive list.



THE TOP 10 THREATS: WHAT'S NEW?

There has been a considerable amount of new data published on the health and well-being of children in Canada since the release of *Raising Canada 2019*, and prior to the COVID-19 pandemic. Much of this new data came from StatsCan surveys, including the new Canadian Health Survey on Children and Youth⁴ conducted in 2019. The results released to date highlight child and youth mental health.

"Meeting information needs in areas such as children's health is key to addressing the challenges our children are facing today," says Statistics Canada's Lynn Barr-Telford, Assistant Chief Statistician of the Social, Health and Labour Statistics Field. "Statistics Canada has a long history of producing data in this area, and we look forward to partnerships such as this one to support policies and programs that contribute to the well-being of children in Canada."

Child and youth mental health has also been a focus of a number of surveys conducted during the pandemic, creating a much richer picture of the state of children's mental health than we've been able to compile in the past. We have broadened our threat, which we had labelled "suicide, depression and anxiety" in *Raising Canada 2019* to "poor mental health." We have also made minor changes to the labels used for these threats to better align with new knowledge or language being used in particular fields.

Finally, a new threat has been identified this year: Climate change emerged as a clear threat to the health and well-being of children around the world, including Canada. It is of incredible importance to children and youth, and is something that they are passionately committed to addressing.

NEW DATA FROM STATSCAN ON THE HEALTH OF CHILDREN AND YOUTH

New data from StatsCan on children and youth, collected in 2019 and reported in 2020, provides additional information on the health of children and youth.

Some came from the new Canadian Health Survey on Children and Youth (aged 1-17).⁴ An important focus of this new survey was the identification of issues that affect children's ability to function in their day-to-day lives. Of the eight domains of function explored for young children (aged 2-4), the most common difficulty was in the area of communicationⁱ (2.7%). Also, 3.9% of children experience functional difficulties in more than one of these eight domains.

Of the 13 domains of function explored for older children (aged 5-17), the most common difficulty is with anxietyⁱⁱ (5.1%). Based on the data, 13.1% of school-age children experience functional difficulties in at least one of these 13 functional domains.⁴ More in-depth analysis of data, and monitoring how it changes over time, will be important. Some of this newly-reported data came from the 2019 general Canadian Community Health Survey, focusing on youth (aged 12-17).⁵ With respect to how youth perceive their overall health, the percentage of youth saying their health is fair or poor was 3.4% in 2018 and 3.9% in 2019. A health issue that has been of concern for some time is the percentage of Canadian children and youth who are overweight or obese. Based on Body Mass Index (BMI) selfreport, the rates were 27.9% in 2017 (Raising Canada 2019) and 24.5% in 2019.5 And some good news: most youth (aged 12-17) say they are satisfied or very satisfied with their life (97.8%), and have a somewhat strong or very strong sense of belonging to their local community (86.5%).5

i Communication is defined as: difficulty understanding and being understood, reported by the person most knowledgeable in the household.

ii Anxiety is defined as: children and youth aged 5 to 17 years who seem very anxious, nervous or worried daily, reported by the person most knowledgeable in the household.



THE TOP 10 THREATS TO CHILDHOOD IN CANADA AND THE IMPACT OF COVID-19

What we have learned about each of these 10 threats to children in Canada since the release of *Raising Canada 2019* is highlighted here. In a few cases, we have slightly changed the label we have applied to these threats because of new knowledge and/or new terminology being used in a particular field.

Given the unprecedented nature of the current pandemic, and the resulting amplification of areas or issues that may be already under strain (e.g., domestic abuse, mental health, economic well-being), for each of the 10 threats we have a special focus on what we have learned to date about how the pandemic may be influencing this threat. Our preliminary analysis of emerging data, and the perspectives of people with expertise in child health and well-being, suggest that many of these 10 threats are in danger of worsening as a result of COVID-19, negatively affecting child health and well-being.

Much of what we learned about COVID-19, its potential impact on these 10 threats, and its overall impact on child health and well-being is still emerging. Ongoing data collection and research, and then acting on what we are learning, will be critically important as the pandemic continues to evolve.

UNINTENTIONAL AND PREVENTABLE INJURIES

WHAT'S NEW

Unintentional injuries continue to be the leading cause of death for young people between the ages of 1-34 in Canada.⁶ Unintentional injuries kill more youth than all other causes combined. One child dies every day from a preventable injury.⁶

The Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) published a new *Injury in Review* report in 2020, looking at one type of injury (traumatic brain injury), across the life course.⁷ This report confirms what we know about the major mechanisms for all types of injuries (including traumatic brain injury) for children in particular age groups. That is, for younger children (under 5 years of age) major mechanisms of unintentional injury are transportation collisions and falls, and for older children (aged 5 to 19) major mechanisms are sports and recreational activities as well as transportation collisions. Hockey consistently showed the highest proportion of traumatic brain injuries relative to other sports and recreation injuries - with other sports ranking high, including rugby and sledding/tobogganing, and for girls, also equestrian activities.⁷

EVERY CHILD HAS RIGHTS

Article 6

1. States Parties recognize that every child has the inherent right to life.

2. States Parties shall ensure to the maximum extent possible the survival and development of the child.

Article 19

1. States Parties shall take all appropriate legislative, administrative, social and educational measures to protect the child from all forms of physical or mental violence, injury or abuse, neglect or negligent treatment, maltreatment or exploitation, including sexual abuse, while in the care of parent(s), legal guardian(s) or any other person who has the care of the child.

2. Such protective measures should, as appropriate, include effective procedures for the establishment of social programmes to provide necessary support for the child and for those who have the care of the child, as well as for other forms of prevention and for identification, reporting, referral, investigation, treatment and follow-up of instances of child maltreatment described heretofore, and, as appropriate, for judicial involvement.

Article 24

1. States Parties recognize the right of the child to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of health and to facilities for the treatment of illness and rehabilitation of health. States Parties shall strive to ensure that no child is deprived of his or her right of access to such health care services.

2. States Parties shall pursue full implementation of this right and, in particular, shall take appropriate measures:...

(e) To ensure that all segments of society, in particular parents and children, are informed, have access to education and are supported in the use of basic knowledge of child health and nutrition, the advantages of breastfeeding, hygiene and environmental sanitation and the prevention of accidents.

Unintentional and preventable injuries, continued...

COVID-19 IMPACTS

We found no Canadian data on the impact of COVID-19 on unintentional injuries in children. It may be that an effect of lockdown policies – including stay-at-home recommendations, quarantine and restricted travel on children and young people's social patterns and play opportunities – have led to fewer unintentional injuries⁸ (e.g., injury occurring in sports, other recreational activities and transportation collisions). We will continue to watch for new data being collected and research being conducted during COVID-19. For example, there is some concern being expressed that we may see an increase in children being left in hot cars, as parents may be reluctant to bring them into stores and other indoor places. It's also possible we may see more severe transportation collision injuries because of an increase in speeding and stunt driving on emptier roads.⁹



WHAT'S NEW

This threat has been broadened from *Raising Canada 2019*'s "Suicide, depression and anxiety" to overall "Poor mental health," in part because of the breadth of new data available on child and youth mental health.

Suicide

Suicide remains the second leading cause of death for youth aged 15 to 24, and is now the

EVERY CHILD HAS RIGHTS

Article 6

1. States Parties recognize that every child has the inherent right to life.

2. States Parties shall ensure to the maximum extent possible the survival and development of the child.

Article 17

States Parties recognize the important function performed by the mass media and shall ensure that the child has access to information and material from a diversity of national and international sources, especially those aimed at the promotion of his or her social, spiritual and moral well-being and physical and mental health.

Article 24

1. States Parties recognize the right of the child to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of health and to facilities for the treatment of illness and rehabilitation of health. States Parties shall strive to ensure that no child is deprived of his or her right of access to such health care services.

Article 27

 States Parties recognize the right of every child to a standard of living adequate for the child's physical, mental, spiritual, moral and social development. leading cause of death for children aged 10 to 14.¹⁰ These rates continue to be significantly higher among First Nations, Métis and Inuit youth. Suicide rates are highest in youth (age 15-24) among First Nations males, and Inuit males and females.¹¹

Nearly 25,000 Canadians (of all ages) either died by suicide or stayed in hospital after intentionally harming themselves in 2018-2019. This is the equivalent of almost 70 self-harm events every day. Hospitalizations for self-harm were higher for females than males across most age groups, with the highest numbers seen in young women; that is, the rates were three times higher for girls and women between the ages of 10 and 24 than for males in the same age group.¹² There is no new Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI) data reported specifically for children.

Mood disorders, including depression

In 2019, about 5% of youth aged 12 to 17 reported they had a mood disorder, which is basically unchanged from 2018 (4.6%).¹³

Other aspects of mental health

Child and youth mental health has been of increasing concern in recent years. The 2019 Canadian Health Survey on Children and Youth (aged 1-17) provides a new look at the range of mental health problems experienced by Canadian youth.⁴ Key findings are briefly described here.

Almost one in five youth aged 15 to 17 (17%) reported that their mental health was "fair" or "poor" in 2019, more than double the rate for those aged 12 to 14 (7%). More female youth (10%) reported fair or poor mental health compared with male youth (4%).



Parents were asked to rate the mental health of their children aged 1 to 17. Parents of younger children were less likely than parents of older children to report that their child's mental health was fair or poor. Specifically, 1% of children aged 1 to 4 were deemed by their parents to have fair or poor mental health. The parent-reported prevalence of fair or poor mental health was 4% among children aged 5 to 11, 5% among youth aged 12 to 14, and 8% among youth aged 15 to 17.

An important new finding is that youth aged 12 to 17 often do not share the same perspective as their parents on their own mental health. A comparison of responses given by parents and youth reveal that about half of the time (52%) they do not share the same opinion of their own mental health. When a difference occurred, almost two-thirds (65%) of youth rated their mental health less positively than their parents did. These results suggest that parents may not always be aware of the mental health struggles experienced by their children. This is an area where some clear action could help parents better support their children.

Finally, other health issues affected child and youth mental health. Youth (aged 12-17) with recurrent pain or sleeping difficulties were more likely to report fair or poor mental health. Children and youth with fair or poor mental health had lower overall grades than children with very good or excellent mental health. In addition, approximately one-quarter (25%) of children and youth aged 5 to 17 with fair or poor mental health reported difficulty making friends; and 1% of children and youth reporting good or excellent mental health indicated they had difficulty.

COVID-19 IMPACTS

A rapid review of the research on child and adolescent mental illness since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic concluded that there are only a small number of published studies examining the prevalence of mental illness to date. The findings do point to an increase in depressive and anxiety symptoms in children and adolescents, but additional and more targeted research is required.¹⁴

Data recently collected in Canada support the findings of this review, suggesting that child and youth mental health may be worsening. For example, recently-released crowdsourced data suggests that the perceived mental health of Canadian youth has declined during the pandemic, with over half (57%) of participants aged 15 to 17 reporting that their mental health was somewhat worse or much worse than it was prior to the implementation of physical distancing measures.⁴ This is supported by other StatsCan survey data, where the difference in mental health before the pandemic (2018) and during the crisis was most pronounced for younger adults; among those aged 15 to 24, 42% reported excellent or very good mental health during the pandemic, whereas 62% had reported excellent or very good mental health in 2018.¹⁵

There are other indications that children's mental health may be worsening during COVID-19. There has been a significant increase in calls to Kids Help Phone since the pandemic began, which could be another indicator that children are struggling with their mental health.¹⁶ Women with children under the age of 18 have shown significantly increased levels of depression and anxiety since the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, which could have a negative effect on children's mental health and well-being.¹⁷

Children (aged 10-17), when asked what words they would use to describe how they've been feeling the most in recent weeks, primarily and intensely report feeling bored (70%). The 16and 17-year-olds were more likely than younger children to say they are "lonely" or "angry," while 10- to 12-year-olds were most likely to say they were "good" or "happy." "Loneliness" was the third most-used word kids between the ages of 10 and 17 used to describe how they've felt in recent weeks. When asked what they miss most about their lives pre-COVID-19, they said they feel the lack of time with friends, with half (54%) saying this is the worst part about being stuck at home. One in four kids (26%) says friendships have been negatively affected by stay-at-home orders. It is difficult to say

now how these feelings may impact children's mental health as the COVID-19 pandemic continues.¹⁸

Given what is known to date about the higher impact of COVID-19, and related public health measures, on people who are part of marginalized or underserved populations, it is likely that the emotional problems and mental health challenges being reported by youth are not necessarily evenly dispersed across the population.

Finally, summarized here is what the data collected during the early phases of COVID-19 suggests about the possible impact on children's mental health and well-being. An important caveat here, as Patten and Kutcher (2020)¹⁹ note, is that during the pandemic, mental health surveys have most often used questionnaires or symptom scales. These are not diagnostic instruments, as they cannot provide information about the persistence of symptoms over time or whether these symptoms are causing problems with functioning or severe distress. For example, children may be experiencing more anxiety during the pandemic, but usually this can be seen as a healthy emotional response. However, anxiety disorders can be disabling and impairing and require professional support. In addition, many of these surveys have not used a probability sampling strategy, meaning that the findings cannot be generalized to the entire Canadian population of children. At this time, the most we can say is that children's mental health is an area that may be at risk, is an area we should keep monitoring as the pandemic continues, and that to do so we need to be collecting high quality data.

CHILD ABUSE

WHAT'S NEW

One-third of Canadian adults report experiencing some form of child abuse before the age of 15 (*Raising Canada 2019*). New data were published in late 2019 on police-reported family violence against children and youth in 2018. It shows that between 2017 and 2018 family violence against children and youth increased by 7%, while non-family violence slightly decreased (-2%).²⁰ Family violence can cause a number of serious health and social problems across the lifespan.²¹

New data from Ontario, in its analysis of the reason for referral to child welfare services, reveals that the most common form of maltreatment is neglect (58%), followed by physical abuse (37%), exposure to intimate partner violence (36%), emotional maltreatment (33%), and sexual abuse (21%).²²

Finally, new data from the PHAC *Injury in Review* (2020) report focusing on traumatic

EVERY CHILD HAS RIGHTS

Article 19

 States Parties shall take all appropriate legislative, administrative, social and educational measures to protect the child from all forms of physical or mental violence, injury or abuse, neglect or negligent treatment, maltreatment or exploitation, including sexual abuse, while in the care of parent(s), legal guardian(s) or any other person who has the care of the child.

2. Such protective measures should, as appropriate, include effective procedures for the establishment of social programmes to provide necessary support for the child and for those who have the care of the child, as well as for other forms of prevention and for identification, reporting, referral, investigation, treatment and follow-up of instances of child maltreatment described heretofore, and, as appropriate, for judicial involvement.

Article 34

States Parties undertake to protect the child from all forms of sexual exploitation and sexual abuse. For these purposes, States Parties shall in particular take all appropriate national, bilateral and multilateral measures to prevent:

(a) The inducement or coercion of a child to engage in any unlawful sexual activity;

(b) The exploitative use of children in prostitution or other unlawful sexual practices;

(c) The exploitative use of children in pornographic performances and materials.

Article 39

States Parties shall take all appropriate measures to promote physical and psychological recovery and social reintegration of a child victim of: any form of neglect, exploitation, or abuse; torture or any other form of cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment; or armed conflicts. Such recovery and reintegration shall take place in an environment which fosters the health, self-respect and dignity of the child.



brain injury across the lifespan shows that abusive head trauma is a major cause of death in young children (under 5 years of age).⁷

COVID-19 IMPACTS

Violence against children has been identified by the World Health Organization (WHO) as a potentially hidden worldwide crisis of the COVID-19 pandemic.²³ Early data collected in some jurisdictions across Canada suggests that the overall volume of suspected child abuse reports has decreased. For example, policed forces and child welfare agencies across the country, including the Children's Aid Society of Toronto, report overall volume of suspected child abuse reports has dropped between 30% to 40%.¹⁶ Yet, many are raising concerns that children who are being abused and require help have not been getting it. For example, reports of online sexual exploitation of Canadian children have soared during the COVID-19 pandemic, and Kids Help Phone has reported

an increase in specific conversations about physical, sexual and emotional abuse.¹⁶ As kids go back to school, it is possible that reports of child abuse may increase as children will once again be interacting with trusted adults outside of their homes.

Reports of online sexual exploitation of Canadian children have also apparently soared during the COVID-19 pandemic, as abusers may take advantage of kids spending more time online. The RCMP's National Child Exploitation Crime Centre has seen an increase in reports of child sexual exploitation, as has the Canadian Centre for Child Protection's tip line to report the online sexual exploitation of children. The latter has seen an 81% spike over April, May and June 2020.²⁴ This is not unique to Canada, as Europol has also seen a surge in child pornography. This, in combination with a potential lack of access to school, health care and other human services, can be a great threat to many children.8



WHAT'S NEW

Child poverty remains a persistent threat to children in Canada, and is the single largest determinant of health according to the WHO.² In 2018, 8.7% of Canadians were living below the official poverty line (using the Market Basket Measure), down slightly from 9.5% in 2017.²⁵ In 2017, 18.6% of children under 18 (1,356,980) were living in poverty (using the Limited Income Measureⁱⁱⁱ).²⁶ The prevalence of preschool children under six living in poverty was even higher at 19.6% (462,360 children).²⁷

New data reported by Campaign Canada 2000 reveals that although the percentage of children living in poverty remains unacceptably high, it has decreased since 2015 with the introduction of the Canada Child Benefit in 2015 – viewed as a positive influencing factor. In 2017, there were 145,730 fewer children living in poverty than in 2015, the year prior to the introduction of the Canada Child Benefit, reflecting a 9.7% decline in the poverty rate in that time.²⁸

EVERY CHILD HAS RIGHTS

Article 27

1. States Parties recognize the right of every child to a standard of living adequate for the child's physical, mental, spiritual, moral and social development.

2. The parent(s) or others responsible for the child have the primary responsibility to secure, within their abilities and financial capacities, the conditions of living necessary for the child's development.

3. States Parties, in accordance with national conditions and within their means, shall take appropriate measures to assist parents and others responsible for the child to implement this right and shall in case of need provide material assistance and support programmes, particularly with regard to nutrition, clothing and housing.

4. States Parties shall take all appropriate measures to secure the recovery of maintenance for the child from the parents or other persons having financial responsibility for the child, both within the State Party and from abroad. In particular, where the person having financial responsibility for the child lives in a State different from that of the child, States Parties shall promote the accession to international agreements or the conclusion of such agreements, as well as the making of other appropriate arrangements.

Child poverty continues to vary across the country. Child and family poverty rates (i.e., the percentages of children and families living in poverty) vary by place, with Nunavut exhibiting the highest child poverty rate in Canada at 31.2% and Yukon the lowest at 11.9%. Among the provinces, the highest child poverty rate was in Manitoba (27.9%) and the lowest was in Quebec (15.2%).²⁸

iii For an explanation of the difference between (and limitations of) the Market Basket Measure of Poverty, in comparison with the Limited Income Measure, refer to the Campaign 2000's report 2020: *Setting the Stage for a Poverty-Free Canada* (p4-5).



53%

Source: Statistics Canada, custom tabulation. As reported in "Towards Justice: Tackling Indigenous Child Poverty in Canada" by Upstream, 2019.



Child and family poverty also continues to be unequally distributed throughout the Canadian population, with some groups more seriously affected. Among those with the highest prevalence of child poverty are racialized groups, recent immigrants and, most significantly, children of Indigenous identity (see Figure 1).²⁸

Other data, recently analyzed by StatsCan, reveals that in 2016, 27% of Black children (aged 0-14) were living in a family in poverty; double the proportion in comparison with all children (14%).²⁹

COVID-19 IMPACTS

It's estimated that approximately **one in four** Canadians (26%) could be financially vulnerable to the economic lockdown (based on findings of StatCan's 2016 Survey of Financial Security).³⁰ Nearly three in 10 (28.9%) Canadians report that the COVID-19 pandemic is having a moderate or major impact on their ability to meet financial obligations or essential needs.³¹

Recent employment figures released by StatsCan illustrate that although the job market recovery is continuing, we still have a long way to go to reach pre-pandemic levels of employment. The rate of recovery understandably varies across the country due to the uneven impact of COVID-19 and re-opening phases. Visible minority groups appear to have been hit disproportionately hard economically by COVID-19. While Canada's overall jobless rate was 10.9% in July, for the South Asian community it was 17.8%, for the Arab community it was 17.3%, and for Black Canadians it was 16.8%.³² Canada's Indigenous peoples were also shut out of the job gains in July, as employment was unchanged for Indigenous peoples living off-reserve.³³



WHAT'S NEW

The Canadian infant mortality rate, defined as total deaths where age at time of death is younger than one year, was 4.7% in 2018 and 2019.^{34,35} It has remained at approximately five deaths per 1,000 live births since 2006.²

The updated comparison of Canada's infant mortality rate with other Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) countries shows that Canada's rate remains higher than the majority of its OECD peers; Canada ranked 31 out of 37. The only European OECD country with an infant mortality rate higher than Canada's is the Slovak Republic (5.1%). A new statement on the OECD site notes that some of this variation may be due to inter-country differences in registration practices for premature infants, making these comparisons challenging.^{35, iv}

EVERY CHILD HAS RIGHTS

Article 6

1. States Parties recognize that every child has the inherent right to life.

2. States Parties shall ensure to the maximum extent possible the survival and development of the child.

Article 24

1. States Parties recognize the right of the child to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of health and to facilities for the treatment of illness and rehabilitation of health. States Parties shall strive to ensure that no child is deprived of his or her right of access to such health care services.

2. States Parties shall pursue full implementation of this right and, in particular, shall take appropriate measures:

(a) To diminish infant and child mortality;...

(d) To ensure appropriate pre-natal and post-natal health care for mothers;

(e) To ensure that all segments of society, in particular parents and children, are informed, have access to education and are supported in the use of basic knowledge of child health and nutrition, the advantages of breastfeeding, hygiene and environmental sanitation and the prevention of accidents;

iv Some of the international variation in infant mortality rates is due to variations among countries in registering practices for premature infants. The United States and Canada are two countries that register a much higher proportion of babies weighing less than 500 g, with low odds of survival, resulting in higher reported infant mortality. In Europe, several countries apply a minimum gestational age of 22 weeks (or a birth weight threshold of 500 g) for babies to be registered as live births. This indicator is measured in terms of deaths per 1,000 live births.³⁵



COVID-19 IMPACTS

According to the Vital Statistics sections of StatsCan, there is no indication there that the number of infant deaths during the pandemic exceed what has been observed over the last five years.^v

There is, however, some emerging data showing a dramatic decrease in premature births in some countries. For example, preliminary research from Denmark shows that the rates of extremely premature birth fell by 90% during the month of complete lockdown, and a study conducted in Ireland found a 73% reduction, compared with the same period over previous years.³⁶ At the Foothills Medical Centre in Calgary, the number of pre-mature births declined by 50% compared with the same period of time in 2019 [mid-March to mid-June].³⁷ Since preterm birth (i.e., before 37 weeks) is a major cause of infant mortality, some are suggesting that we may find infant mortality has declined in this period. This will be an interesting trend to monitor through emerging COVID-19 data collection and research. At the time of writing this report, this trend was not yet published in peer review journals.

v "These observations are based on an updated provisional dataset from the Canadian Vital Statistics Death Database released on July 24 covering the first 23 weeks of 2020 (until the week ending June 6). These data are provisional as they do not include all deaths that occurred during the reference period, and do not include Yukon. Furthermore, the data include deaths occurring in Ontario up to May 30, 2020." Statistics Canada, Personal Communication.



PHYSICAL INACTIVITY

EVERY CHILD HAS RIGHTS

Article 31

1. States Parties recognize the right of the child to rest and leisure, to engage in play and recreational activities appropriate to the age of the child and to participate freely in cultural life and the arts.

2. States Parties shall respect and promote the right of the child to participate fully in cultural and artistic life and shall encourage the provision of appropriate and equal opportunities for cultural, artistic, recreational and leisure activity.

WHAT'S NEW

We have uncoupled obesity from physical inactivity in this 2020 edition of *Raising Canada*, due to the realization that there are a number of factors that contribute to childhood obesity – physical inactivity is only one. The latest data on obesity is reported with the new data collected in the 2019 Canadian Community Health Survey.⁵

ParticipACTION released its 2020 report card on physical activity for children and youth, and 39% (Grade D+) of children and youth meet the physical activity recommendation from the Canadian 24-hour movement guidelines. This grade of D+ is unchanged from the 2018 report card. Boys (Grade C) rate better than girls (Grade D-), and young children aged 5 to 11 (Grade C) rate better than older children aged 12 to 17 (Grade D).

Only 21% of 5- to 11-year-olds engage in active play and non-organized/unstructured leisure activities for more than 1.5 hours per day on average.³⁸ Additional data suggests that students in Grades 6 to 10 play outdoors for 15 minutes per day, on average.³⁹ This grade has declined from a D in 2018 to an F in 2020.⁴⁰

COVID-19 IMPACTS

During the COVID-19 pandemic many young people (aged 15-30) report continuing to do some type of exercise, either indoors (67%) or outdoors (62%). Females are more likely to exercise indoors than males (73% vs. 59%).⁴¹ Many parents also report that their children are trying to stay active, with six in 10 parents saying that their children are participating in some form of daily physical activity; 26% report that their children were participating in physical activity three to five days per week, and 12% report that their children were participating in physical activity one to two times per week.⁴²

The closure of playgrounds during the early phases of the COVID-19 pandemic likely had a negative impact on younger children in particular. Playgrounds are noted as important community infrastructure that help children stay active in the ParticipACTION Report Card (2020).⁴³

Finally, additional research done by ParticipACTION during COVID-19 restrictions found that only 4.8% of children (aged 5-11) and 0.8% of youth (aged 12-17) were meeting 24-hour movement behaviour guidelines^{vi}, compared with 15% (aged 5-17 years) prior to the pandemic. The research showed that 62% of children and teens were less physically active outdoors, and 79% were spending more leisure time on screens⁴⁰.

vi The Canadian 24-hour movement behaviour guidelines are an integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour and sleep. For more information, refer to: <u>https://csepguidelines.ca/</u>



WHAT'S NEW

In 2017-18, 8.7% of Canadian households were food insecure, up slightly from 8.3% in 2011-12. The data also showed that 25% of single female-parent families and 16% of single male-parent families experienced moderate or severe food insecurity.⁴⁴ In *Raising Canada 2019*, we cited the 2011-12 Canadian Community Health Survey data on food security. Although the Canadian Community Health Survey did collect data on food security in 2019, it was not

EVERY CHILD HAS RIGHTS

Article 27

1. States Parties recognize the right of every child to a standard of living adequate for the child's physical, mental, spiritual, moral and social development.

2. The parent(s) or others responsible for the child have the primary responsibility to secure, within their abilities and financial capacities, the conditions of living necessary for the child's development.

3. States Parties, in accordance with national conditions and within their means, shall take appropriate measures to assist parents and others responsible for the child to implement this right and shall in case of need provide material assistance and support programmes, particularly with regard to nutrition, clothing and housing.

4. States Parties shall take all appropriate measures to secure the recovery of maintenance for the child from the parents or other persons having financial responsibility for the child, both within the State Party and from abroad. In particular, where the person having financial responsibility for the child lives in a State different from that of the child, States Parties shall promote the accession to international agreements or the conclusion of such agreements, as well as the making of other appropriate arrangements. collected in all provinces. This update is from the 2017-18 survey.

The prevalence of household food insecurity differs markedly by Indigenous status and racial/cultural group. The highest rates of food insecurity are found among households where the respondent identified as Indigenous or Black. Based on the data, 78.7% of the children in Nunavut live in food-insecure households.⁴⁵

COVID-19 IMPACTS

Almost one in seven (14.6%) Canadians indicated that they lived in a household where they experienced food insecurity in the past 30 days. There is a higher rate of food insecurity being reported among Canadians living in a household with children (19.2%) compared with those living with no children (12.2%), and these families are more likely to be worried about food running out before there was money to buy more and having difficulty affording to eat balanced meals.⁴⁶ Canadians who were absent from work due to COVID-19 were almost three times more likely to be food insecure than those who worked (i.e., 28.4% vs. 10.7%).⁴⁶

The Breakfast Club of Canada has recently announced that it is forecasting an increase in the number of children across Canada going to school without breakfast. Prior to COVID-19, this number was more than one million children and is now expected to increase to more than two million children in the coming school year. Breakfast Club of Canada describes this as



an increase from one in four children to more than one in three children who will be heading to school without breakfast. The disrupted economy and job losses caused by COVID-19 means that more families are struggling to put food on the table.^{vii}

vii https://www.globenewswire.com/news-release/2020/08/20/2081486/0/en/Breakfast-Club-of-Canada-calls-on-Canadians-and-partners-to-ensure-hunger-doesn-t-get-in-the-way-of-learning-for-children-this-school-year.html

SYSTEMIC RACISM AND DISCRIMINATION

WHAT'S NEW

We have re-named the threat we called discrimination in the *Raising Canada 2019* report to systemic racism and discrimination, in recognition of the increased awareness of systemic racism present in Canada. Systemic racism and discrimination are embedded across Canadian society, including in the service systems that we have created to support all people, and children in particular (e.g., education, health care, police, and other human services). As noted in the 2019 *Raising Canada* report, racism profoundly impacts the physical and mental health of children, adolescents, emerging adults, and their families.

The lack of race-based data in Canadian health and social services makes it difficult to measure and report on the ways in which children experience racism and discrimination in Canada. The Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI) has proposed pan-Canadian standards for collecting race-based and Indigenous identity data in health systems, and an interim standard to collect race-based data was released on May 29, 2020.⁴⁷ The next critical step will be the application of these

EVERY CHILD HAS RIGHTS

Article 2

1. States Parties shall respect and ensure the rights set forth in the present Convention to each child within their jurisdiction without discrimination of any kind, irrespective of the child's or his or her parent's or legal guardian's race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national, ethnic or social origin, property, disability, birth or other status.

2. States Parties shall take all appropriate measures to ensure that the child is protected against all forms of discrimination or punishment on the basis of the status, activities, expressed opinions, or beliefs of the child's parents, legal guardians, or family members.

Article 30

In those States in which ethnic, religious or linguistic minorities or persons of indigenous origin exist, a child belonging to such a minority or who is indigenous shall not be denied the right, in community with other members of his or her group, to enjoy his or her own culture, to profess and practise his or her own religion, or to use his or her own language.

standards, with the aim of illuminating the ways in which Black, Indigenous and other racialized children are adversely affected, and ultimately driving more effective public policy solutions. Despite the current limitations in the availability of race-based data, there is sufficient evidence that Black, Indigenous (First Nations, Métis and Inuit) and other racialized children in Canada experience adverse health outcomes. Systemic racism impacts children in myriad ways: they are more likely to experience adverse childhood experiences such as poverty and abuse, to be overrepresented in the child welfare and juvenile justice systems, and to be suspended or expelled from school.⁴⁸



COVID-19 IMPACTS

Some kinds of racism and discrimination are increasing as a result of COVID-19. Data collected via surveys during the early phases of COVID-19 capture the experiences of Canadians during the pandemic, including children and youth.

In May 2020, more than 43,000 Canadians participated in an online crowdsourcing survey to share their perceptions of crime and personal safety in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic. Younger participants aged 15 to 24 (11%) or 25 to 34 (9%) were most likely to report that harassment or attacks on the basis of race, ethnicity or skin colour have increased in their neighbourhood since the start of the pandemic. Young women were more likely to feel that there has been an increase in crime and race-based harassment or attacks in their neighbourhood since the start of the pandemic.⁴⁹ For the entire group of people (all ages, 15+) who stated that they feared unwanted or intimidating acts, more than 20% said it was because of their racial identity.⁵⁰

Findings from a recent Angus Reid survey of more than 500 Canadian adults of Chinese ethnicity underscore the extent and depth to which they have been exposed to discriminatory behaviours, and the effect on their own sense of self and belonging in this country. Half (50%) report being called names or insulted as a direct result of the COVID-19 outbreak, and 43% say they have been threatened or intimidated. Six out of 10 (61%) say they have adjusted their routines in order to avoid run-ins or otherwise unpleasant encounters since the COVID-19 outbreak began. Just over half of adults surveyed are worried that Asian children are going to be bullied when they return to school due to pandemic.⁵¹

Finally, it is not surprising that the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic are being experienced inequitably across our society. Systemic racism and discrimination are a major contributing factor to this inequity. We have seen a difference in the impact of COVID-19 by race, with respect to who is getting infected, who is getting severely ill, and who is most affected by the impact of COVID-19 on our broader society (e.g., job losses, lack of access to services due to lockdowns). This is described in more depth later in this report under the emerging theme of inequity in the context of the pandemic.

VACCINE-PREVENTABLE ILLNESSES

WHAT'S NEW

Three-quarters of two-year-old children (76%) had received all four recommended doses of diphtheria, tetanus and pertussis vaccine in 2017 (the 2017 childhood National Immunization Coverage Survey, cNICS).⁵² This is unchanged from the 2013 survey findings, reported on in the *Raising Canada 2019* report.

For effective population protection, more work needs to be done to ensure Canada meets its coverage goal of 95% for all recommended childhood vaccines. In comparison with other affluent countries, Canada was ranked 28th among 29 countries by a UNICEF pediatric vaccination metric, which measured vaccine uptake at two years of age (2014).⁵³ In 2019, almost one-third (30.4%) of youth (aged 12-17) reported having the flu vaccine in the past 12 months, a slight increase from 2018 (26.2%).

According to a 2016 Canadian survey, although only 3% of parents refused all vaccines for their children (*vaccine refusers*), 19% consider

EVERY CHILD HAS RIGHTS

Article 24

1. States Parties recognize the right of the child to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of health and to facilities for the treatment of illness and rehabilitation of health. States Parties shall strive to ensure that no child is deprived of his or her right of access to such health care services.

2. States Parties shall pursue full implementation of this right and, in particular, shall take appropriate measures:

(a) To diminish infant and child mortality;

(b) To ensure the provision of necessary medical assistance and health care to all children with emphasis on the development of primary health care;

(c) To combat disease and malnutrition, including within the framework of primary health care, through, inter alia, the application of readily available technology and through the provision of adequate nutritious foods and clean drinking-water, taking into consideration the dangers and risks of environmental pollution;

(d) To ensure appropriate pre-natal and post-natal health care for mothers;

(e) To ensure that all segments of society, in particular parents and children, are informed, have access to education and are supported in the use of basic knowledge of child health and nutrition, the advantages of breastfeeding, hygiene and environmental sanitation and the prevention of accidents;

(f) To develop preventive health care, guidance for parents and family planning education and services.

Article 27

 States Parties recognize the right of every child to a standard of living adequate for the child's physical, mental, spiritual, moral and social development.



themselves to be *vaccine hesitant*.⁵³ WHO recently listed vaccine hesitancy as a global public health threat, along with pandemics.⁵⁴

COVID-19 IMPACTS

Closures of primary health care facilities have led to widespread omission or delay of scheduled childhood vaccinations, which threatens to reduce herd immunity and a resurgence of preventable infectious disease outbreaks in the future.⁸

Pediatric infectious disease specialists say that vaccination rates among children have dropped as much as 20% in parts of Canada, ramping up anxieties that the country could face a series of infectious outbreaks while still battling COVID-19. Manitoba, for example, saw a 25% decline in administered measles, mumps and rubella (MMR) vaccinations, and a 21% decline in diphtheria, tetanus and pertussis (DTaP) vaccinations, for children aged two and younger in March and April 2020, compared with the same period last year. A pediatric infectious disease expert in Calgary estimates that Calgary has also seen a 20% decrease in vaccinations in March and April 2020.⁵⁵

Physicians are expressing concern about a possible surge in measles, whooping cough and other serious, vaccine-preventable illnesses when children start returning to daycares and schools. The Canadian Paediatric Society is urging family physicians and other clinicians to ensure young patients don't miss their vaccines.⁵⁶

BULLYING

WHAT'S NEW

Bullying is an important issue affecting children and their mental health, with cyberbullying and cyberstalking being of particular concern. In 2014, one in five children and youth (aged 15-20) experienced cyberstalking, cyberbullying, or both.²

There are many forms of bullying, including verbal bullying, social bullying, physical bullying and cyberbullying. All forms of bullying can have a devastating impact on children's self-esteem and mental health, and result in negative psychological, emotional and behavioural outcomes.^{viii} Children who are involved as both victims and perpetrators of bullying are at the highest risk for suicide.^{ix} Bullying is a common experience for children and youth, but is more prevalent in certain populations, including children living with disabilities, LGBTQ and racialized children.

EVERY CHILD HAS RIGHTS

Article 2

1. States Parties shall respect and ensure the rights set forth in the present Convention to each child within their jurisdiction without discrimination of any kind, irrespective of the child's or his or her parent's or legal guardian's race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national, ethnic or social origin, property, disability, birth or other status.

2. States Parties shall take all appropriate measures to ensure that the child is protected against all forms of discrimination or punishment on the basis of the status, activities, expressed opinions, or beliefs of the child's parents, legal guardians, or family members.

New data on cyberbullying has been collected through the Canadian Health Survey on Children and Youth (2019): 8.7% of youth aged 12 to 17 reported that someone had posted hurtful information about them on the internet sometime over the past year, and often more than once; 15.9% reported that someone had threatened or insulted them through email, instant messaging, text messaging or an online game; and 12.9% reported that someone had purposefully excluded them from an online community.^x Some forms of bullying are considered criminal acts.^{xi}

COVID-19 IMPACTS

Children may be more exposed to cyberbullying, as they are spending more time online during the pandemic.⁵⁷

viii https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/sites/default/files/2017-11/CSP_Fact_Sheets_bullying_eng.pdf

ix Holt, M., Vivolo-Kantor, A., Polanin, J., Holland, M., DeGue, S., Matiasko, J., Wolfe, M., & Reid, G. (2015). Bullying and Suicidal Ideation and Behaviours: A Meta-Analysis. American Academy of Pediatrics, 135(2), 496-509. doi: 10.1542/ peds.2014-1864

x A special tabulation on the results from three questions about online bullying asked in the 2019 Canadian Health Survey on Children and Youth was provided by Statistics Canada in August 2020.

xi It is an offence under Canada's Criminal Code to share intimate images of a person without the consent of the person in the image; "the purpose of this offence is to protect the privacy a person has in his or her nudity or sexual activity." Several other Criminal Code offences also deal with bullying, including cyberbullying, and could lead to charges such as criminal harassment, uttering threats, intimidation, and counselling suicide. https://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/cnt/ntnl-scrt/ cbr-scrt/cbrbllng/prnts/lgl-cnsqncs-en.aspx

NEW THREAT

WHY WE'VE INCLUDED THIS NEW THREAT

Children and youth have identified climate change as a major threat to their health and well-being. The *Raising Canada 2019* report came out in the midst of widespread studentled climate change protests in Canada and around the world. Climate change was, and continues to be, one of the top concerns for children and youth – both the impact it has on their current health and also for their future. It was an issue the children and youth identified as a priority in the Canadian Children's Charter, and which they have subsequently raised during the Raising Canada summits and the Young Canadians' Parliament. "As a youth, it is essential to me that our government takes concrete action on the issues facing children and youth because while we make up a significant part of Canada's population, we are not given a voice in the decisions that affect us. It is crucial for our government to bear in mind our nation's silenced youth when making decisions on important issues, such as our environment and the climate crisis. I am hopeful for a government that listens to Canada's youth as the leaders of today and of tomorrow."

-Lyza Ells, 17 years old, Antigonish, N.S.

EVERY CHILD HAS RIGHTS

Article 27

1. States Parties recognize the right of every child to a standard of living adequate for the child's physical, mental, spiritual, moral and social development.

Article 24

1. States Parties recognize the right of the child to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of health and to facilities for the treatment of illness and rehabilitation of health. States Parties shall strive to ensure that no child is deprived of his or her right of access to such health care services.

2. States Parties shall pursue full implementation of this right and, in particular, shall take appropriate measures:...

(c) To combat disease and malnutrition, including within the framework of primary health care, through, inter alia, the application of readily available technology and through the provision of adequate nutritious foods and clean drinking-water, taking into consideration the dangers and risks of environmental pollution;

Article 29

1. States Parties agree that the education of the child shall be directed to:...

(e) The development of respect for the natural environment.
"Climate change is the single, largest global health threat of the 21st century... Children can be disproportionately affected by these and other climate-related changes because they metabolize more water, air, and food per kilogram of body weight than adults. Their rapid growth and developmental, physiologically dynamic systems, and risk exposure over a longer life course combine to increase vulnerability to environmental hazards. Children who are socio-economically disadvantaged, Indigenous, or living with a chronic disease are particularly at risk".⁵⁸

Specific climate-related risks include: heatand cold-related morbidity and mortality; physical and psychological sequelae of weather disasters (e.g., hurricanes, flooding, wildfires); increasing air pollution; food, water and nutrient insecurity; infection risks associated with insects, ticks and rodents;^{58,59} decreased air quality; and altered vector-borne disease patterns.⁵⁹

COVID-19 IMPACTS

Research illustrates that there have been some positive environmental impacts during this pandemic. For example, greenhouse gas emissions have decreased by 4.6%, which is larger than any drop in human history, other atmospheric emissions have also decreased,⁶⁰ and the best published estimates to date indicate a reduction in carbon dioxide emissions this year of around 8% compared with the previous year.⁶¹

Yet there is considerable discussion that these gains are unlikely to be sustained, unless this COVID-19 experience has helped us realize that the things we used to think are absolutely necessary actually aren't. Others noted that COVID-19 is also exposing the fragility of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) adopted by the United Nations, and estimate that two-thirds are now unlikely to be met, in part because it seems unrealistic to expect that globalization and economic growth will bankroll green investment and development.⁶²

COVID-19 POSES A THREAT TO CHILD HEALTH AND WELL-BEING

COVID-19 is a major threat to child health and well-being. Based on what is known to date about the novel coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2), children do get infected with COVID-19, and can spread the virus, although they may not get as ill.^{63,64}

We are also learning that children and adolescents shouldn't be lumped together when it comes to COVID-19; adolescents seem to shed the virus (i.e., emit it from their throats and nasal passages) at about the same rates as adults.⁶⁵ For children under 10 suspected to have high levels of the virus in their respiratory tracts, it's still unclear how much of the virus they shed.

Canadian data shows that as of August 18, 2020, a total of 10,109 children and youth (aged 0-19) make up 8.4% of the total COVID-19 cases in Canada, and 138 children had been hospitalized and 27 admitted to ICU. Only one child is known to have died.⁶⁶ A small proportion of children infected with COVID-19 go on to develop a condition called multisystem inflammatory syndrome. This condition seems to develop two to four weeks post infection, with most children recovering.⁶⁷ The Canadian Paediatric Society has developed a "practice point" for this inflammatory syndrome; practice points provide clinical guidance and policy recommendations for pediatricians, family physicians, nurses, government officials and others.⁶⁸

Although children do not get as ill with COVID-19 as adults do, some argue they may be disproportionately affected by the societal impacts of COVID-19, including from the lockdowns. This report identifies three overlapping themes with respect to how the societal impact of COVID-19 affects children: inequity, a lack of access to child care and education, and a lack of access to health care and other human services. These three themes are not new, but the pandemic has amplified the impacts on children and their families. As in other areas (such as long-term care) COVID-19 has shone a spotlight on areas that were already problematic. These three integrated themes are briefly described here.

INEQUITY

Inequity is already a strong theme woven throughout our top 10 threats, and in particular was described under racism and discrimination. COVID-19 appears to be both magnifying inequities in vulnerable populations and increasing the number of children who are vulnerable. For example, as a result of job losses resulting from COVID-19, more families will be living on the edge and struggling to provide the necessities of life, including food and shelter for their families. The risks due to COVID-19 are not equally shared across Canadian society, and this clearly affects children and youth. Increased COVID-19 risk factors have been identified in First Nations, Inuit and Métis communities,69 and include:

- Overcrowding on reserves and in Northern Regions that make self-isolation difficult
- Lack of access to clean water in some remote First Nations, Métis and Inuit communities, and for homeless Indigenous people
- Difficulties in accessing medical supplies and treatment in remote First Nations, Métis and Inuit communities
- Distrust in health structures experienced by many First Nations, Métis and Inuit people
- Lack of public health information available in communities where English is not their first language
- Limited access to food, particularly in remote Indigenous communities⁶⁹

The Canadian Paediatric Society recognizes that Indigenous children are at a higher risk of COVID-19, and outline some guidance for

EVERY CHILD HAS RIGHTS

Article 2

1. States Parties shall respect and ensure the rights set forth in the present Convention to each child within their jurisdiction without discrimination of any kind, irrespective of the child's or his or her parent's or legal guardian's race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national, ethnic or social origin, property, disability, birth or other status.

2. States Parties shall take all appropriate measures to ensure that the child is protected against all forms of discrimination or punishment on the basis of the status, activities, expressed opinions, or beliefs of the child's parents, legal guardians, or family members.

Article 28

 States Parties recognize the right of the child to education, and with a view to achieving this right progressively and on the basis of equal opportunity.

Article 29

 States Parties agree that the education of the child shall be directed to:...

(c) The development of respect for the child's parents, his or her own cultural identity, language and values, for the national values of the country in which the child is living, the country from which he or she may originate, and for civilizations different from his or her own;

(d) The preparation of the child for responsible life in a free society, in the spirit of understanding, peace, tolerance, equality of sexes, and friendship among all peoples, ethnic, national and religious groups and persons of indigenous origin;

Article 30

In those States in which ethnic, religious or linguistic minorities or persons of indigenous origin exist, a child belonging to such a minority or who is indigenous shall not be denied the right, in community with other members of his or her group, to enjoy his or her own culture, to profess and practise his or her own religion, or to use his or her own language. "As a young person, living in a low-income community, I have seen the impacts that this pandemic has had on my peers first-hand. Children ARE suffering, now more than ever.

Due to the closures of recreation facilities and schools, people that I have gone to school with every day, people I have spent my whole life playing in the park with or going on bike rides with no longer have access to the breakfast programs that they relied on in the mornings, and their mental health is on a downward decline, as they are forced to endure endless verbal abuse from frustrated parents.

As the days drudge on, my peers become more and more isolated from their communities, lose the routines of an active and healthy lifestyle, and worst of all, lose hope in their futures.

In a country as great as ours, this should not be a reality we accept but rather a challenge we face together.

After many years of service and thousands of interactions with passionate young Canadians, I have seen the amazing leadership capabilities of my peers. It is clear that we feel as though people in power disregard our opinions because they feel we are too young.

On behalf of my 8 million colleagues across the country, I urge every person in a position of power to stop underestimating the capacity of youth and thinking that just because we are young we are incapable of creating change. As a matter of fact, it is the exact opposite and I call on every parliamentarian to utilize our skills and assist in uplifting us into positions in which we can work together to create real solutions.

Youth is not a weakness but rather one of the greatest strengths of our nation and I urge leaders to use it so that we as children can resolve our pain and restore our happiness."

-Kamil Kanji, 17 years old, Calgary, AB

pediatricians regarding how they can support Indigenous children during COVID-19 and beyond.⁷⁰ A recent survey conducted by the BC Centre for Disease Control concluded that racialized people are more likely to be negatively affected by the COVID-19 pandemic in a variety of ways. Challenges with regards to unemployment, financial stress, and access to health care and food have not been shared equally across all populations.⁷¹

It is becoming increasingly clear in the context of COVID-19, that to be able to address these inequities, race and ethnicity based data must be collected – to better understand why certain communities experience particular health outcomes.⁷² Many members of the Black, Indigenous and other racialized communities have advocated for this for decades.

Inequitable access to safe and affordable housing has an impact on child health and well-being. Recent data collected in Toronto, for example, shows that child homelessness was increasing prior to the pandemic and has continued to increase during the COVID-19 pandemic. Early in 2016, Toronto had 484 children housed in its homeless shelters. By late April 2020, at the peak of the initial phase of the COVID-19 crisis, 1,291 children were housed in these shelters. As of July 1, this figure was 1,020 – with 70% of these children under the age of 10.⁷³

Finally, there are inequities with respect to access to child care and education, as well as health care and other human services. Again, these inequities are being amplified by the COVID-19 pandemic. They are discussed in more depth below.

A LACK OF ACCESS TO CHILD CARE AND EDUCATION

Early in this pandemic, a lack of access – and inequitable access – to child care and education, has had a negative impact on children and their families. This seems to have been an important mechanism through which many of the top 10 threats to children appear to be affected by COVID-19 (e.g., poor mental health, child abuse, physical inactivity, food insecurity and vaccine-preventable illnesses).



With schools out for summer, child care spaces few and far between, and plans for a return to school in the fall still being determined, child health leaders are expressing concerns that children's human rights are being violated. These include their rights to a quality education, the highest attainable standard of health, protection from violence, and access to recreation. Many children are living in isolation, cut off from the essential supports that are critical to their well-being and experts warn there will be both short and long-term consequences. Kids at risk of experiencing violence at home are no longer being monitored as they normally would be through school and are unable to access trusted adults outside of their homes. And while many nonessential services have opened, many children cannot safely access child care or recreational activities during the summer.⁷⁴

Universal early childhood education and care (ECEC) services promote healthy child development, social inclusion and inclusion of children with vulnerabilities, while meeting parents' work needs and supporting local communities. Lack of child care hinders efforts to close the gender employment gap and the gender wage gap, especially for low income women.²⁸ Yet across Canada, pre-COVID-19, there were not enough child care spaces available to meet families' needs, and they struggled to access child care that was affordable, inclusive and high quality.^{28,75}

One out of four children (26%) are vulnerable in one or more areas of development prior to entering the first grade, meaning their readiness to learn at school and their ability to meet the task demands of school is compromised. Lower neighbourhood income has been found to be associated with higher vulnerability in young children.¹ Developmental vulnerability is an important determinant of child health and something that high-quality early childhood education and child care helps to address.⁷⁶ Access to education is a child's right.⁷⁷

Child care

Approximately 60% of children aged 0 to 5 were participating in a formal or informal child care arrangement in 2019. Approximately one in 10 parents of children younger than 15 years of age, participating in a StatsCan crowdsourcing survey, reported that their child or children were attending child care during the COVID-19 pandemic. About half of these parents (46%) said they were using a different child care arrangement with different fees. About a quarter of participants said that their children will not return to child care once services reopen, and about half (49%) said that their child would not attend because they were concerned about the health of their child or other members of their household. More than one third of parents said their children will return, with most (88%) saying they needed child care in order to work.⁷⁸

Participants who had at least one child in their home with a disability were less likely to report a return to child care once services re-opened (23%), 37% of participants who did not have a child with a disability in the home said they would likely return to child care. Participants with children with disabilities were also more likely to report that they had not used childcare services prior to the COVID-19 pandemic (49%); based on the data, 34% of participants who did not have a child with a disability said they had not.

Leaders in this field have made the argument that the pandemic is having a devastating impact on women's equality, family economic security and functioning, children's well-being and the health of the economy – child care is key to recovery.⁷⁹

School and education

Children are expressing concern about the impact of COVID-19 on their ability to go to school. A survey of children aged 10 to 17 conducted by Angus Reid (2020) in the spring found that children are most worried about the uncertainty surrounding school. Big worries about losing class time both this year and next are higher among teenagers (aged 13-17), whose graduation or preparation for graduation are affected.^{18, xii}

Among those "going to school online," most (75%) say they feel they are keeping up, although that doesn't mean that all are enjoying it. Close to six in 10 children (57%) say that they dislike it, and the same number say they feel unmotivated (60%). Three-quarters (76%) of these children say that they are asking parents for help, but children's perspectives on that help are mixed, with half (48%) saying that they are getting great help.¹⁸

StatsCan conducted a crowdsourcing survey this summer about parenting during this pandemic^{xiii}, and school and education issues were front and centre. Like children, parents (76%) had concerns related to their children's school year and academic success, with these concerns varying by their education level. Parents who had a high school education or less were most concerned. Parents with higher levels of education, however, were

xii The Angus Reid Institute interviewed 650 children whose parents are members of the Angus Reid Forum from households across the country. Interviewees were drawn from key demographic groups, such as official language spoken, household income and education levels and household composition. Parents and/or guardians were asked first if they have children between the ages of 10 and 17, and then if they consented to having their child participate in the survey. The data is intended to provide a national snapshot of children's views, experiences and opinions on the subject of COVID-19.

xiii "This study is based on data from the Impacts of COVID-19 on Canadians: Parenting during the Pandemic: Data Collection Series. This crowdsourcing online questionnaire was designed to collect information about family concerns and activities during COVID-19 from parents of children aged 0 to 14 living in Canada. From June 9 to June 22, 2020, over 32,000 participants completed the voluntary online questionnaire. Readers should note that crowdsourcing data are not collected under a sample design using probability-based sampling. As a result, the findings cannot be applied to the overall Canadian population."80

EVERY CHILD HAS RIGHTS

Article 28

- 1. States Parties recognize the right of the child to education, and with a view to achieving this right progressively and on the basis of equal opportunity, they shall, in particular:
- (a) Make primary education compulsory and available free to all;
- (b) Encourage the development of different forms of secondary education, including general and vocational education, make them available and accessible to every child, and take appropriate measures such as the introduction of free education and offering financial assistance in case of need;
- (c) Make higher education accessible to all on the basis of capacity by every appropriate means;
- (d) Make educational and vocational information and guidance available and accessible to all children;
- (e) Take measures to encourage regular attendance at schools and the reduction of drop-out rates.
- 2. States Parties shall take all appropriate measures to ensure that school discipline is administered in a manner consistent with the child's human dignity and in conformity with the present Convention.
- 3. States Parties shall promote and encourage international cooperation in matters relating to education, in particular with a view to contributing to the elimination of ignorance and illiteracy throughout the world and facilitating access to scientific and technical knowledge and modern teaching methods. In this regard, particular account shall be taken of the needs of developing countries.

more concerned about balancing child care, schooling and work in comparison with parents who had high school or less, and this was a greater concern for parents with younger children (i.e., aged 11 and younger). The frequency of children's participation in academic activities increased with the level of parental education. A higher proportion of participants whose family included a child with a disability reported being very or extremely concerned about their child's academic success. Children with disabilities may require a greater amount of their parents' time for help with not only their school activities, but also with other daily activities of living.⁸⁰

Finally, access to the internet, as well as internet-enabled devices (ideally computers), are essential to participate in virtual education provided by schools. StatsCan conducted a study drawing on the 2018 Canadian Internet Use Survey. Although most households with children younger than 18 years old had internet access at home, this lack of access varied by income level, with this lack of access ranging from 4.2 % in the lowest income quartile to 0.2% in the highest income quartile.⁸¹

More than half (58.4%) of those households with internet access at home had less than one internet-enabled device per household member, and this also varied by level of household income (63% in the lowest income guartile, 56.2% in the highest income quartile). The aspect most affected by income levels was that lower income households were far more likely than higher income households to use only mobile devices to access the internet at home (24% in the lowest income guartile compared to 8% in the highest income quartile). Lower income households, then, are more likely to rely on mobile devices to access the internet, which may be less effective educational tools than personal computers. This clearly can have an impact on children's ability to participate in online education activities.⁸¹

A LACK OF ACCESS TO HEALTH CARE AND OTHER HUMAN SERVICES

Like with child care and education, a lack of or inequitable access to health care and other human services early in this pandemic has had a negative impact on children and their families. For almost 15 weeks, in many places across Canada, most non-urgent and elective procedures came to a halt in health care settings that serve children and youth. Drawing on the experiences of health care professionals, families and child health leaders, as well as some early data collection, we know that there has been a decrease in use of health care services by kids. For example, data collected by the Toronto Hospital for Sick Children show a 30% decrease in emergency department visits in March 2020 and a 62% decrease in April, compared with the same months in 2019.⁸ We do have to be careful in how we interpret this decrease, however. For example, a percentage of this decrease may relate to decreased motorvehicle use and less sport participation. Again, continuing and more in-depth data collection and analysis throughout the pandemic is needed.

Routine care, including some well-baby visits and immunizations, came to a halt in many places. Most essential services delivered in the community, including in the home, became either completely inaccessible or considerably more difficult to access. Children who are more at risk for a variety of reasons, including because they are living with complex health problems and/or disabilities, have experienced the overall lack of access to health and human services more acutely.^{8,81}

The implications of physical distancing and

EVERY CHILD HAS RIGHTS

Article 27

 States Parties recognize the right of every child to a standard of living adequate for the child's physical, mental, spiritual, moral and social development.

Article 24

1. States Parties recognize the right of the child to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of health and to facilities for the treatment of illness and rehabilitation of health. States Parties shall strive to ensure that no child is deprived of his or her right of access to such health care services.

2. States Parties shall pursue full implementation of this right and, in particular, shall take appropriate measures:

(a) To diminish infant and child mortality;

(b) To ensure the provision of necessary medical assistance and health care to all children with emphasis on the development of primary health care;

(c) To combat disease and malnutrition, including within the framework of primary health care, through, inter alia, the application of readily available technology and through the provision of adequate nutritious foods and clean drinking-water, taking into consideration the dangers and risks of environmental pollution;

(d) To ensure appropriate pre-natal and post-natal health care for mothers;

(e) To ensure that all segments of society, in particular parents and children, are informed, have access to education and are supported in the use of basic knowledge of child health and nutrition, the advantages of breastfeeding, hygiene and environmental sanitation and the prevention of accidents;

(f) To develop preventive health care, guidance for parents and family planning education and services.

lockdown orders are greater for children with more complex medical needs. For example, many of these families have had to make the difficult decision about whether they should continue to allow support workers into their homes to assist with essential personal and medical care, often with inadequate PPE, or to assume sole responsibility for their child's care needs. Another challenge is that these essential workers can now command higher pay, creating challenges with affordability for many families.^{8,81} These children and families are also often more affected by the closure of their schools, where some health services are integrated into specialized school settings. Health care leaders at Canada's top children's hospitals are concerned with the lack of health care support, as well as what this means for children in the near future. Canadians of all ages now face the reality that a large backlog will mean they have to wait longer for needed assessments, therapies or procedures. Forcing children to wait extra months or even years for needed health care services can have a greater impact by negatively affecting their growth and development.⁷⁴



STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS

A strength of this report is that a large amount of data was reviewed. Another was that many different kinds of expertise were drawn upon to contribute to the research and writing of this report. This expertise included the lived experiences of youth, clinical experts, researchers, and others with an interest in children's rights, health and well-being. They were involved in assisting with identifying data sources, determining priorities and interpreting findings.

Limitations are that this was not a systematic or a scoping review of the peer-reviewed literature; although some reviews conducted by others were included. No original data were analyzed, rather, published reports that included analysis of various data sources were reviewed. Some of the survey data included here is not collected using a probabilitybased sampling design, so the findings are not representative of the entire Canadian population. This limitation primarily pertains to surveys conducted during COVID-19. Again, the limited availability of data – and the inconsistency with respect to how it was collected provincially, federally and internationally – makes it challenging to make comparisons between places and over time. Finally, much of the COVID-19 data collected to date is emergent. More rigorous methods of data collection, such as surveys using a probability-based sampling design, and more research are needed to test the early insights reported on here.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

A major emphasis of this report has been on what we have learned to date from the data collected in this early phase of the COVID-19 pandemic. COVID-19 is a clear threat to child health and well-being. Although severe COVID-19 seems to be rare in children, meaning they have (to date) been spared serious illness, they have been significantly affected by this pandemic and may experience a high indirect burden on their physical, social and mental health.^{8, 82}

Based on data collected during the early phase of COVID-19, we are beginning to see that many of the top 10 threats identified in Raising Canada 2019 may be increasing, or are in danger of increasing, because of the pandemic. Three strong overlapping themes emerged with respect to how COVID-19 affects children, threatening their health and wellbeing: inequity, a lack of access to child care and education, and a lack of access to health care and other human services. These threats are not new; they have been dramatically affected by, or become highly visible, during the pandemic. A recent UNICEF rapid review on the impacts of pandemics and epidemics on children protection also points to an increase in threats to children. Some of the key

impacts of previous pandemics and epidemics include being orphaned, stigmatization and discrimination of infected children and adolescents, reductions in household income, and child abuse and maltreatment.⁸³

Adverse childhood experiences (e.g., child abuse, poverty and food insecurity) may be more common during and immediately following the pandemic for children and young people experiencing mandated physical isolation, and particularly for those children already at higher risk (e.g., new refugees, marginalized families, Indigenous children, Black children and those already living with inadequate housing conditions, financial strain and food insecurity).⁸ Ultimately, this pandemic serves as a spotlight to illuminate underlying problems in our society, such as economic inequality, racism and discrimination. These inequities and injustices weaken us as a society. *"Confronted with these inequities, this is a time when societies can fundamentally rethink the way in which they respond to the needs of their populations."* ⁸⁴ This is why we have added inequity as a major threat to child health and well-being during COVID-19.

"Nous entendons souvent que les jeunes de nos jours sont indifférents au sujet du monde qui les entoure : mais cette apathie perçue est plutôt un découragement, car ils savent que leur voix n'est pas valorisée. Nous ne pouvons pas tourner le dos à 8 millions d'enfants qui ont besoin de plus de soutien du gouvernement et qui veulent voir un changement. Chaque enfant a un rêve : c'est aux dirigeants de leur donner les outils pour le réaliser."

-Amina Sanogo, 17 ans, Ottawa

Children have experienced huge disruptions to their way of life, and we know they generally thrive in the context of structure and routines.⁸¹ Again, a strong finding from the data we reviewed is that children are worried about school and their ability to keep up; they miss their friends and are concerned about the longer-term impact of COVID-19 on their friendships. They also miss members of their extended family and are worried about the impact of COVID-19 on family-member health and jobs. Many lack the technology infrastructure and support needed to do their schoolwork at home. Parents are clearly concerned about these issues as well. For many reasons, however, they are unable to address these needs on their own. Other data suggests

that children's mental health may be declining during the early phases of the pandemic, making this a critically important area to act on and to continue watching.

This pandemic has brought to the forefront the realization that it takes more than a village to raise a child - as a society, we all share in this responsibility. Moreover, a strong public policy framework that protects the best interests of children is required for children and families to be successful. Yet the initial need for overarching 'stay-at-home orders' during the COVID-19 pandemic, and the ongoing need for physical distancing, and sometimes for selfisolation or quarantining, makes it challenging for communities and the formal and informal services embedded in these communities to play their usual roles in supporting children and families. As a society that truly cares about all of our children, we must continue to balance the need to keep COVID-19 cases low with moving into a phase of living with COVID-19 in ways that don't place a disproportionate burden on children. Perhaps most importantly, we need to be particularly careful that we are not increasing the inequities that threaten child health and wellbeing, and hence our collective future.

Finally, going back to the child rights framework, providing systems and societal support for children and addressing their needs is a human rights issue. In 1991, Canada agreed to this when it ratified the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child.³ These legal rights of children are protected under international and domestic law. One of the core principles of a rights framework is that children are not passively waiting for aid and assistance, rather they have ideas and opinions and a right to participate in decisions that affect their lives. Although this pandemic has been challenging for children, we must remember that along with their vulnerability they have incredible strength, resilience and wisdom. Children need to freely express their views. Adults have a duty to listen to and involve children in decisions that affect them – within their family, schools, communities, public institutions, public policy making and judicial procedures. Children and youth are ready to partner with us, to work together as we continue to move towards action. The development of truly child-centred policies can only happen when we act with children, rather than acting for them.

"People like to say that 'children are our future' but we are also the present. We are Canadian citizens. If we could vote, perhaps the issues we face would be a greater focus. Listen to our voices and take action to support children. We are citizens of this country, present and future, disempowered, but as important as any adult. 18 is just a number."

-Roman Wolfli, 13 years old, Calgary



CALL TO

A CALL TO ACTION FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA

1) Appoint a federal Commissioner for Children and Youth

There are 8 million children in Canada and they all have something in common – their rights. By ratifying the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC), the Government of Canada has a duty to ensure children can reach their full potential.

A federal Commissioner for Children and Youth would have a mandate to ensure the full implementation of the UNCRC and ensure that children's best interests are given paramount consideration. This independent office of government plays a crucial role in advocating for children and youth, ensuring that they are prioritized in the development of federal legislation, directly consulting and engaging with children, and raising the profile of children in Canada. Now more than ever, a Commissioner for Children and Youth is needed to promote the rights of young people and hold government accountable.

We call for the federal government to ensure that Bill S-217 – An Act to Establish the Office of the Commissioner for Children and Youth in Canada (introduced by Independent Senator Rosemary Moodie) – be reinstated and quickly approved once Parliament resumes following prorogation. Approving this bill would provide a non-partisan and evidence-based approach to improving children's well-being and protecting their rights. When considering this proposal, we also encourage the federal government to respect the self-governance rights of First Nations, Métis and Inuit peoples.

2) Create a national strategy to tackle the top 10 threats to children in Canada and ensure the full protection of children's rights

Every child has the right to survive and thrive.

We call on the federal government to work in partnership with the provinces and territories to create and implement a national strategy to address the top 10 threats to Canada's children and ensure the full implementation of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child.

The national strategy should ensure young people have access to equitable services from coast to coast to coast. It should also outline priorities, targets and timelines, with a clear delineation of the responsibilities of the various levels of government that are needed to make measurable progress for children in Canada.

Children and youth have the right to participate in decisions that affect their lives. To fulfil this right, we encourage the government to consult with children and youth to determine the best ways to support their health and well-being through a national strategy. We also call for parliamentarians to participate in and support the Young Canadians' Parliament – an initiative that amplifies the voices of children at the highest levels of government and supports their participation in public policy that affects their lives.

3) Publish a children's budget that includes dedicated resources to address the top 10 threats to children in Canada, as well as \$250 million to mitigate the impact of COVID-19 on children

Every child has the right to access the best attainable standard of health.

One-third of children in Canada do not enjoy a safe and healthy childhood. This reality has been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic, causing unprecedented challenges for children and their families. We call for the federal government to publish a children's budget that includes adequate resources to address the top 10 threats to children and provides transparency on federal expenditures.

We were pleased that the government's Gender-based Analysis Plus (GBA+) measures in the 2019 budget included an increased focus on young people. For the first time ever, the budget also included an accompanying budget booklet dedicated to young Canadians. Although this additional analysis does not go as far as a children's budget, it is an important step in the right direction.

Children's budgets are a proven strategy that have been used in jurisdictions around the world to ensure that investments are made towards evidence-based programs that improve the lives of children and of future adults. They help ensure that children get their fair share of resources, and often do not result in more money spent, but in money being spent more wisely. We urge the federal government to continue to strengthen the application of the GBA+ lens in relation to children who represent one-quarter of Canada's population.

As the pandemic continues, children are heading back to school in September amid tremendous uncertainty, ongoing COVID-19 restrictions and health concerns. Immediate action is needed to protect the physical and mental health of children, keep children safe from violence, and support the resilience of young people. We call for the federal government to invest \$250 million to address these priorities – including the short-, medium- and long-term impacts of the pandemic on children in Canada.

A CALL TO ACTION FOR CANADIANS

Sign the Raising Canada Call to Action to urge the government to tackle the top 10 threats to childhood and mitigate the impacts of COVID-19 on children

Collectively, Canadians have the power to influence government decisions and improve the lives of children in Canada. Children are uniquely impacted by the pandemic and need urgent attention and support.

We call on Canadians to join our efforts by signing the Raising Canada Call to Action at childrenfirstcanada.org.

Together, we can make Canada the best place in the world for kids to grow up.

Children First Canada's Council of Champions

The Council of Champions unites the leaders of Canada's children's charities and hospitals, research institutes and major corporations that invest in kids. Together, they speak up for children in Canada and jointly pursue Children First Canada's vision of making Canada the best place in the world for kids to grow up.

- Sara Austin, Founder & CEO, Children First Canada
- Dr. Susa Benseler, Director, Alberta Children's Hospital Research Institute, ACHF Chair in Pediatric Research, and Husky Energy Chair in Child and Maternal Health
- Dr. Kevin Chan, Medical Director, Children's Health, Trillium Health Partners
- Owen Charters, President & CEO, Boys and Girls Clubs of Canada
- Dr. Ronald Cohen, President and CEO, The Hospital for Sick Children (SickKids)
- Irwin Elman, Former Ontario Child Advocate, Global Strategic Champion, Until the Last Child
- Debbie Field, Coalition for Healthy School Food & Food Secure Canada

- Emily Gruenwoldt, President & CEO, Children's Healthcare Canada and Executive Director of Pediatric Chairs of Canada
- Dr. Mary Jo Haddad, Chancellor of the University of Windsor and President of MJH Consulting
- Christine Hampson, PhD, President & CEO, The Sandbox Project
- Julia Hanigsberg, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital
- Kathy Hay, CEO, Kids Help Phone
- Mark Hierlihy, CEO, Canada's Children's Hospital Foundations
- Dr. Krista Jangaard, CEO, IWK Health Centre (Halifax)
- Karyn Kennedy, President & CEO, Boost Child & Youth Advocacy Centre
- Valerie McMurty, CEO, Children's Aid Foundation of Canada

- Alex Munter, CEO, CHEO, Children's Hospital of Eastern Ontario
- Dr. Holden Sheffield, Chief of Pediatrics and General Pediatrician at Qikiqtani General Hospital (Iqaluit)
- Dr. Michael Shevell, Chair of Pediatrics, McGill University Health Centre
- Ariel Siller, President and CEO of the Canadian Children's Literacy Foundation
- Bruce Squires, CEO, McMaster Children's Hospital
- Kathleen Taylor, Board of Trustees of SickKids Foundation, Chair of the Board of RBC Royal Bank
- Dr. Michael Ungar, Canada Research Chair in Child, Family and Community Resilience, Director of the Resilience Research Centre, Dalhousie University

REFERENCES

- O'Brien Institute for Public Health. Raising Canada: A report on children in Canada, their health and wellbeing [Internet]. OIPH on behalf of Children First Canada; 2018 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://static1.</u> squarespace.com/static/5669d2da9cadb69fb2f8d32e/t/5b8e12e121c67c87038b4cbf/1536037605886/ <u>Raising+Canada+Report.pdf</u>
- O'Brien Institute for Public Health. Raising Canada: A vote for children is a vote for Canada. Election 2019 [Internet]. OIPH on behalf of Children First Canada; 2019 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5669d2da9cadb69fb2f8d32e/t/5d68527b9b5867000180d47e/1567117949279/</u> Raising+Canada+-+Election+2019+-+Call+to+Action.pdf
- United Nations. Convention on the Rights of the Child [Internet]. United Nations Human Rights; 1989 Nov 20 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/crc.aspx</u>
- Statistics Canada. Canadian Health Survey on Children and Youth, 2019 [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; The Daily; 2020 Jul 23 [cited 2020 Aug]. 4 p. Catalogue No.: 11-001-X. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/200723/dq200723a-eng.htm?HPA=1</u>
- Statistics Canada. Canadian Community Health Survey, 2019 [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; The Daily; 2020 Aug 6 [cited 2020 Aug]. 4 p. Catalogue No.: 11-001-X. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/200806/dq200806a-eng.htm?CMP=mstatcan</u>
- 6. Parachute. National Injury Prevention Day [Internet]. Parachute; 2020 Jul 7 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://parachute.ca/en/program/national-injury-prevention-day/</u>
- Public Health Agency of Canada. Injury in review, 2020 edition: Spotlight on traumatic brain injuries across the life course [Internet]. Ottawa: PHAC; 2020 Aug 7 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.canada.</u> <u>ca/en/public-health/services/injury-prevention/canadian-hospitals-injury-reporting-prevention-program/</u> <u>injury-reports/2020-spotlight-traumatic-brain-injuries-life-course.html</u>
- Chanchlani N, Buchanan F, Gill PJ. Addressing the indirect effects of COVID-19 on the health of children and young people. CMAJ [Internet]. 2020 Aug 10 [cited 2020 Aug];192(32):E921-7. Available from: <u>https://www. cmaj.ca/content/cmaj/early/2020/06/24/cmaj.201008.full.pdf</u> doi: 10.1503/cmaj.201008
- 9. Parachute. Preventing Injuries. Saving Lives [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: https://parachute.ca/en/
- Statistics Canada. Table 13-10-0392-01 Deaths and age-specific mortality rates, by selected grouped causes [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; 2020 Aug 17 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1310039201</u>
- Kumar MB, and Tjepkema M. Suicide among First Nations people, Métis and Inuit (2011-2016): Findings from the 2011 Canadian Census Health and Environment Cohort (CanCHEC) [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; 2019 Jun 28 [cited 2020 Aug]. 23 p. Catalogue No.: 99-011-X2019001. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/99-011-x/99-011-x2019001-eng.htm</u>
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. Thousands of Canadians a year are hospitalized or die after intentionally harming themselves [Internet]. Ottawa: CIHI; 2020 Aug 6 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.cihi.ca/en/thousands-of-canadians-a-year-are-hospitalized-or-die-after-intentionally-harming-themselves</u>

- Statistics Canada. Table 13-10-0096-18 Mood disorders, by age group [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; 2020 Aug 20 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/</u> <u>tv.action?pid=1310009618</u>
- 14. Racine N, Cooke JL, Eirich R, Korczak DJ, McArthur B, Madigan S. Child and Adolescent Mental Illness during COVID-19: A Rapid Review. Psychiatry Research [Internet]. 2020 Jul 16 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0165178120323702</u> doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113307
- Findlay L, Arim R. Canadians report lower self-perceived mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; 2020 Apr 24 [cited 2020 Aug]. 6 p. Catalogue No.: 45280001. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/45-28-0001/2020001/article/00003-eng.htm</u>
- 16. Powell B. Kids Help calls are soaring amid COVID-19, but not criminal reports. Are we in the dark on child abuse? [Internet]. 2020 Apr 27 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.thestar.com/news/</u> <u>canada/2020/04/27/kids-help-calls-are-soaring-amid-covid-19-but-not-criminal-reports-are-we-in-the-darkon-child-abuse.html</u>
- 17. Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. Women, parents and younger adults more likely to feel anxious and depressed during COVID-19 [Internet]. CAMH; 2020 May 26 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.camh.ca/en/camh-news-and-stories/women-parents-and-younger-adults-more-likely-to-feel-anxious-and-depressed-during-covid-19</u>
- Angus Reid Institute. Kids & COVID-19: Canadian children are done with school from home, fear falling behind, and miss their friends [Internet]. 2020 May 11 [cited Aug 2020]. Available from: <u>http://angusreid.org/covid19-kids-opening-schools/</u>
- Patten S, Kutcher S. The quality of mental-health data that's been collected during the pandemic is so shockingly low that it can't be used to make policy [Internet]. Policy Options; 2020 Jul 13 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://policyoptions.irpp.org/magazines/july-2020/covid-19-mental-health-surveys-are-notthe-stuff-of-effective-policy/</u>
- Conroy S, Burczycka M, Savage L. Family violence in Canada: A statistical profile, 2018 [Internet]. Ottawa: Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics, Statistics Canada; 2019 Dec 12 [cited Aug 2020]. 62 p. Catalogue No.: 85-002-X. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/85-002-x/2019001/article/00018-eng.pdf?st=1ivQlNyl</u>
- 21. Public Health Agency of Canada. Snapshot of Family Violence in Canada Infographic [Internet]. Ottawa: PHAC; 2015 Nov 24 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/health-promotion/stop-family-violence/snapshot-family-violence-canada-infographic.html</u>
- 22. Davidson L, Joh-Carnella N, King B. Ongoing Child Welfare Services and Referrals to Services by Primary Form of Substantiated Maltreatment in Ontario 2018 [Internet]. Toronto: Canadian Child Welfare Research Portal; 2020 [cited Aug 2020]. CWRP Information Sheet #204E. Available from: <u>https://cwrp.ca/sites/default/files/publications/Ongoing%20Services%20and%20Referrals%20Information%20Sheet.pdf</u>
- 23. World Health Organization. Joint Leaders' statement Violence against children: A hidden crisis of the COVID-19 pandemic [Internet]. WHO; 2020 Apr 8 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www. who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/ending-violence-in-a-time-of-covid-19---join-statement. pdf?sfvrsn=1cbd99f0_2</u>
- 24. Thompson E. Child sex exploitation is on the rise in Canada during the pandemic [Internet]. 2020 Jul 30 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.cbc.ca/news/politics/pandemic-child-sexual-abuse-1.5645315</u>]
- Statistics Canada. Canada's Official Poverty Dashboard, February 2020 [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada;
 2020 Feb [cited 2020 Aug]. Catalogue No.: 11-627-M. Available from: https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/11-627-m/2020018-eng.pdf?st=zG25bb5_

- 26. Statistics Canada. Table 11-10-0135-01 Low income statistics by age, sex and economic family type [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; 2020 Aug 20 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1110013501</u>
- 27. Campaign 2000 Report Card on Child and Family Poverty in Canada. 2020: Setting the Stage for a Poverty-Free Canada [Internet]. Campaign 2000; 2020 Jan 14 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://</u> campaign2000.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/campaign-2000-report-setting-the-stage-for-a-povertyfree-canada-updated-january-24-2020.pdf
- 28. Campaign 2000 Report Card on Child and Family Poverty in Canada. 2020: Setting the Stage for a Poverty-Free Canada [Internet]. Campaign 2000; 2020 Jan 14 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://</u> <u>campaign2000.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/campaign-2000-report-setting-the-stage-for-a-poverty-</u> <u>free-canada-updated-january-24-2020.pdf</u>
- 29. Statistics Canada. Study: Changes in the socioeconomic situation of Canada's Black population [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; The Daily; 2020 Aug 13 [cited 2020 Aug]. 3 p. Catalogue No.: 11-001-X. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/200813/dq200813a-eng.htm?CMP=mstatcan10%20</u> <u>COVID%20Impacts10</u>
- Statistics Canada. Survey of Financial Security, 2016 [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; The Daily; 2017 Dec 7 [cited 2020 Aug]. 5 p. Catalogue No.: 11-001-X. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/dailyquotidien/171207/dq171207b-eng.htm</u>
- Messacar D, Morissette R. Work interruptions and financial vulnerability [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada;
 2020 May 6 [cited 2020 Aug]. 7 p. Catalogue No.: 45280001. Available from: https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/45-28-0001/2020001/article/00010-eng.htm
- Statistics Canada. Labour Force Survey, July 2020 [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; The Daily; 2020 Aug 7 [cited 2020 Aug]. 48 p. Catalogue No.: 11-001-X. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/dailyquotidien/200807/dq200807a-eng.htm</u>
- Evans P. Canada added 419,000 jobs in July, but is still 1.3M below pre-COVID-19 levels [Internet].
 2020 Aug 7 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.cbc.ca/news/business/canada-jobs-june-1.5677746?cmp=newsletter_Coronavirus%20Brief_1824_82944</u>
- 34. Statistics Canada. Table 13-10-0713-01 Infant deaths and mortality rates, by age group. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; 2019 Nov 26 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/ tv.action?pid=1310071301</u>
- 35. Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. Infant mortality rates [Internet]. OECD; 2019 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://data.oecd.org/healthstat/infant-mortality-rates.htm</u>
- 36. Cunningham J. A Reduction in Premature Births During Covid-19 [Internet]. The Royal College of Midwives. 2020 July 24 [cited Aug 2020]. Available from: <u>https://www.rcm.org.uk/news-views/rcm-opinion/2020/a-reduction-in-premature-births-during-covid-19/</u>
- 37. Fleming K. Significant decline in preterm births in Calgary during COVID-19 pandemic: neonatologist [Internet]. 2020 Jul 21 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://calgary.ctvnews.ca/significant-decline-in-preterm-births-in-calgary-during-covid-19-pandemic-neonatologist-1.5033669</u>
- 38. Statistics Canada. Canadian Health Measures Survey (Cycle 5) Household Questionnaire [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; 2019 May 31 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p3Instr.pl?Function=assembleInstr&a=1&&lang=en&Item_Id=257886</u>
- 39. Inchley J, Currie D, Budisavljevic S, Torsheim T, Jåstad A, Cosma A, et al. Spotlight on adolescent health and well-being: Findings from the 2017/2018 Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) survey in Europe and Canada [Internet]. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2020 [cited 2020 Aug]. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO. Available from: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/hand le/10665/332091/9789289055000-eng.pdf</u>

- 40. ParticipACTION. The ParticipACTION report card on physical activity for children and youth [Internet]. ParticipACTION; 2018 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.participaction.com/en-ca/resources/</u> <u>children-and-youth-report-card</u>
- Arim R, Findlay L, Kohen D. The Health and Behavioural Impacts of COVID-19 on Youth: Results from the Canadian Perspectives Survey Series 1 [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; 2020 May 15 [cited 2020 Aug].
 5 p. Catalogue No.: 45280001. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/45-28-0001/2020001/</u> <u>article/00020-eng.pdf</u>
- 42. Statistics Canada. Impacts of COVID-19 on Canadian families and children [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; The Daily; 2020 Jul 9 [cited 2020 Aug]. 5 p. Catalogue No.: 11-001-X. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/200709/dq200709a-eng.htm</u>
- 43. Al-Hakim A. Survey led by Dalhousie researcher shows COVID-19 lockdown's impact on children, youth activity [Internet]. 2020 Jul 13 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://globalnews.ca/news/7169713/dalhousie-research-survey-health-impact-covid-19-children-youth/</u>
- 44. Statistics Canada. Household food insecurity in Canada, 2017/2018 [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; 2020 Jun 24 [cited 2020 Aug]. Catalogue No.: 11-627-M. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/11-627-m/11-627-m2020007-eng.htm</u>
- 45. Tarasuk V, Mitchell A. Household food insecurity in Canada, 2017-18 [Internet]. Toronto: Research to identify policy options to reduce food insecurity (PROOF); 2020 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://proof.utoronto.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Household-Food-Insecurity-in-Canada-2017-2018-Full-Reportpdf.pdf</u>
- 46. Statistics Canada. Food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic, May 2020 [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; 2020 Jun 24 [cited 2020 Aug]. 5 p. Catalogue No.: 45280001. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/45-28-0001/2020001/article/00039-eng.htm</u>
- 47. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Proposed standards for race-based and Indigenous identity data [Internet]. 2020 July 24 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.cihi.ca/en/proposed-standards-for-race-based-and-indigenous-identity-data</u>
- Trent M, Dooley DG, Dougé J. The impact of racism on child and adolescent health. Pediatrics [Internet].
 2019 Aug 1 [cited 2020 Aug];144(2):e20191765. Available from: <u>https://pediatrics.aappublications.org/</u> <u>content/144/2/e20191765</u> doi: 10.1542/peds.2019-1765
- 49. Statistics Canada. Canadians' perceptions of personal safety since COVID-19 [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; The Daily; 2020 Jun 9 [cited 2020 Aug]. 8 p. Catalogue No.: 11-001-X. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/200609/dq200609a-eng.htm</u>
- 50. Hango D. Fear of COVID-19 related stigmatization [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; 2020 Jul 15 [cited 2020 Aug]. 7 p. Catalogue No.: 45280001. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/45-28-0001/2020001/article/00051-eng.htm</u>
- 51. Angus Reid Institute. Blame, bullying and disrespect: Chinese Canadians reveal their experiences with racism during COVID-19 [Internet]. 2020 Jun 22 [cited Aug 2020]. Available from: <u>http://angusreid.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/2020.06.22_Discrimination_Chinese_Canadians.pdf</u>
- 52. Statistics Canada. [Internet]. Childhood National Immunization Coverage Survey, 2017 [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; The Daily; 2019 Mar 26 [cited 2020 Aug]. 3 p. Catalogue No.: 11-001-X. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/190326/dq190326d-eng.htm</u>
- 53. Shen SC, Dubey V. Addressing vaccine hesitancy: Clinical guidance for primary care physicians working with parents. Canadian Family Physician [Internet]. 2019 Mar 1 [cited 2020 Aug];65(3):175-81. Available from: https://www.cfp.ca/content/65/3/175

- 54. Zafar A. Putting off kids' vaccines during COVID-19 heightens risk of other outbreaks [Internet]. 2020 Apr 24 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.cbc.ca/news/health/covid-19-child-immunizations-1.5543286</u>
- 55. Bharti B. COVID-19: As Canada's child vaccination rates drop due to lockdown, experts fear other infectious outbreaks [Internet]. 2020 Jun 11 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://nationalpost.com/news/canada/covid-19-as-canadas-child-vaccination-rates-drop-due-to-lockdown-experts-fear-other-infectious-outbreaks</u>
- 56. Canadian Paediatric Society. Stick to immunization schedule during the COVID-19 pandemic, paediatricians urge [Internet]. CPS; 2020 Apr 30 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.cps.ca/en/media/stick-to-immunization-schedule-during-the-covid-19-pandemic</u>
- 57. STOMP Out Bullying. Cyberbullying During COVID-19 [Internet]. STOMP Out Bullying; 2020 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.stompoutbullying.org/blog/cyberbullying-during-covid-19</u>
- 58. Buka I, Shea KM. Global climate change and health in Canadian children [Internet]. Canadian Paediatric Society, Pediatric Environmental Health Section; 2019 Aug 14 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.cps.ca/en/documents/position/global-climate-change</u>
- 59. American Academy of Pediatrics. Climate Change and Children's Health [Internet]. AAP; 2020 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.aap.org/en-us/advocacy-and-policy/aap-health-initiatives/climate-change/Pages/Climate-Change-and-Childrens-Health.aspx</u>
- 60. Lenzen M, Li M, Malik A, Pomponi F, Sun YY, Wiedmann T, et al. Global socio-economic losses and environmental gains from the Coronavirus pandemic. PloS one [Internet]. 2020 Jul 9 [cited 2020 Aug];15(7):e0235654. Available from: <u>https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal. pone.0235654</u> doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0235654
- Hodd C. COVID-19's environmental impact not likely sustainable: Climate experts say emissions down 8 per cent [Internet]. 2020 Jun 5 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.thechronicleherald.ca/news/</u> provincial/covid-19s-environmental-impact-not-likely-sustainable-climate-experts-say-emissions-down-8-percent-458523/
- 62. Naidoo R, Fisher B. Reset Sustainable Development Goals for a pandemic world. Nature [Internet]. 2020 Jul 6 [cited 2020 Aug];583:198-201. Available from: <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/d41586-020-01999-x</u>
- 63. Heald-Sargent T, Muller WJ, Zheng X, Rippe J, Patel AB, Kociolek LK, et al. Age-related differences in nasopharyngeal severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) levels in patients with mild to moderate coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). JAMA pediatrics [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamapediatrics/fullarticle/2768952</u> doi: 10.1001/ jamapediatrics.2020.3651
- 64. Mandavilli A. Children May Carry Coronavirus at High Levels, Study Finds [Internet]. 2020 Jul 30 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/07/30/health/coronavirus-children.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200811&instance_id=21164&nl=the-morning®i_id=73279779&segment_id=35750&te=1&user_id=e4ccfe8c3dba0dc0045b84dcf764c7b9</u>
- 65. Joseph A, Branswell H, Cooney E. Seven months later, what we know about COVID-19 and the pressing questions that remain [Internet]. 2020 Aug 17 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.statnews.com/2020/08/17/what-we-now-know-about-covid19-and-what-questions-remain-to-be-answered/?utm_source=STAT+Newsletters&utm_campaign=68d8cf406c-MR_COPY_01&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_8cab1d7961-68d8cf406c-152464669</u>
- 66. Government of Canada. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): Epidemiology update. Ottawa: PHAC; 2020 Aug 19 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://health-infobase.canada.ca/covid-19/epidemiological-</u> <u>summary-covid-19-cases.html</u>

- 67. Godfred-Cato S, Bryant B, Leung J, Oster ME, Conklin L, Abrams J, et al. COVID-19-Associated Multisystem Inflammatory Syndrome in Children – United States, March-July 2020 [Internet]. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020 [cited 2020 Aug];69:1074-1080. Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/69/wr/</u> <u>mm6932e2.htm?s_cid=mm6932e2_w#suggestedcitation</u> doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6932e2
- Berard RA, Scuccimarri R, Haddad EM, Morin MP, Chan K, Dahdah NS, et al. Pediatric inflammatory multisystem syndrome temporally associated with COVID-19 [Internet]. Canadian Paediatric Society; 2020 Jul 6 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.cps.ca/en/documents/position/pims</u>
- 69. Saint-Girons M, Joh-Carnella N, Lefebvre R, Blackstock C, Fallon B. Equity Concerns in The Context Of COVID-19: A Focus on First Nations, Inuit, and Métis Communities in Canada [Internet]. Toronto, ONT: Canadian Child Welfare Research Portal; 2020 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://cwrp.ca/publications/</u> equity-concerns-context-covid-19-focus-first-nations-inuit-and-metis-communities
- 70. Giroux R, Blackstock C, Jetty R, Bennett S, Gander S. COVID-19 and Indigenous children in Canada: What can paediatricans do? [Internet]. Canadian Paediatric Society; 2020 May 27 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.cps.ca/en/blog-blogue/covid-19-indigenous-children-in-canada-what-can-paediatricans-do</u>
- 71. Hager M. B.C. survey shows racialized people most likely to suffer from effects of COVID-19 pandemic [Internet]. 2020 Aug 14 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www.theglobeandmail.com/canada/</u> <u>british-columbia/article-bc-survey-shows-racialized-people-most-likely-to-suffer-from-effects/?utm_</u> <u>medium=Newsletter&utm_source=Morning%20Update&utm_type=text&utm_content=MorningUpdate&utm_</u> <u>campaign=2020-8-14_6&cu_id=NFdLaDjdliBP0tfw085I4UcOHont9adm</u>
- 72. Black Health Alliance. Knowledge Hub. Black Health Alliance; 2020 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://blackhealthalliance.ca/resources/knowledge-hub/</u>
- 73. Gibson V. Four years ago, Toronto had 483 children living in its homeless shelters. This year there were more than a thousand. Then COVID-19 hit [Internet]. 2020 Aug 8 [cited Aug 2020]. Available from: <u>https://www.ourwindsor.ca/news-story/10133955-four-years-ago-toronto-had-483-children-living-in-its-homeless-shelters-this-year-there-were-more-than-a-thousand-then-covid-hit-/</u>
- 74. Children First Canada. Media Advisory: Leading Canadian Children's Hospitals Warn of Looming Crisis. Children First Canada; 2020 Jul 6 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://childrenfirstcanada.org/news/2020/7/3/media-advisory-leading-canadian-childrens-hospitals-warn-of-looming-crisis</u>
- 75. Child Care Now. Child Care Priorities [Internet]. Child Care Now; 2020 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: https://timeforchildcare.ca/priorities/
- 76. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Children Vulnerable in Areas of Early Development: A Determinant of Child Health [Internet]. Ottawa: CIHI; 2014 Oct 2 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://secure.cihi.ca/free_products/Children_Vulnerable_in_Areas_of_Early_Development_EN.pdf</u>
- 77. Vandergrift K. School Re-opening: Children at the Center. Canadian Coalition for the Rights of Children; 2020 Jul 20 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>http://rightsofchildren.ca/childrens-rights-in-canada/school-re-opening-children-at-the-center/</u>
- Statistics Canada. Child care use during and after the COVID-19 pandemic [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; 2020 Jul 29 [cited 2020 Aug]. 7 p. Catalogue No.: 45280001. Available from: <u>https://www150.</u> <u>statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/45-28-0001/2020001/article/00062-eng.htm</u>
- 79. Child Care Now. Open letter to the Prime Minister and Deputy Prime Minister of Canada: There is no time like the present to build a pan-Canadian system of child care [Internet]. Child Care Now; 2020 Aug 12 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://timeforchildcare.ca/2020/08/11/child-care-nows-open-letter-to-the-primeminster-and-deputy-there-is-no-time-like-the-present-to-build-a-pan-canadian-system-of-child-care/</u>

- 80. Statistics Canada. Parents supporting learning at home during the COVID-19 pandemic [internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; Data to Insights for a Better Canada, 2020 Jul 16 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/45-28-0001/2020001/article/00040-eng.htm</u>
- Frenette M, Frank K, Deng Z. School Closures and the Online Preparedness of Children during the COVID-19 Pandemic [Internet]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; 2020 Apr 15 [cited 2020 Aug]. 10 p. Catalogue No.: 11-626-X-2020001 - No. 103. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/11-626-x/11-626-x/2020001-eng.htm</u>
- 82. Gruenwoldt E. Putting children at the centre of COVID-19 recovery efforts [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://hospitalnews.com/putting-children-at-the-centre-of-covid-recovery-efforts/</u>
- 83. Bakrania, S., Chavez, C., Ipince, A., Rocca, M., Oliver, S., Stansfield, C., and Subrahmanian, R. (2020) Impacts of Pandemics and Epidemics on Child Protection: Lessons learned from a rapid review in the context of COVID-19, Innocenti Working Paper 2020-05, UNICEF Office of Research Innocenti, Florence.
- 84. Saint-Girons M, Joh-Carnella N, Lefebvre R, Blackstock C, Fallon, B. Equity Concerns in the Context of COVID-19 – A Focus on First Nations, Inuit, and Métis Communities in Canada [Internet]. Toronto, ONT: Canadian Child Welfare Research Portal; 2020 [cited 2020 Aug]. Available from: <u>https://fncaringsociety.com/ sites/default/files/covid-19_equity_research_brief_-_final_-_july_2020_1.pdf</u>





childrenfirstcanada.org September 2020